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The trustees (who are also directors of the charity for the purposes of the Companies Act) present their annual 
report together with the financial statements and auditors' report of The Futures Trust (the 'Academy Trust') for the 
period 1 September 2024 - 31 August 2025. The annual report serves the purposes of both a trustees' report, and a 
directors' report and a strategic report under company law. The trustees confirm that the annual report and financial 
statements of the Academy Trust comply with the current statutory requirements, the requirements of the Academy 
Trust's governing document and the provisions of the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) "Accounting 
and Reporting by Charities" issued in 2019.

THE FUTURES TRUST BACKGROUND
The Multi-Academy Trust ('MAT') was established by the Governing Body of President Kennedy School, an 
outstanding academy school, serving a catchment area in north west Coventry in 2013. The vision was to ‘Build 
Brighter Futures’ and the mission to ‘make a difference’ and transform students’ life chances. This has remained the 
Trust’s vision and mission ever since. Since inception, the Trust believes that staff and pupils are ‘better together, 
collaborating in a professional learning community’. The Trust now comprises 10 schools, 9,485 students and 1,247 
staff rooted in Coventry, but working in Warwickshire and South Leicestershire, the Trust believes strongly in place-
based working and local collaboration. The Trust has grown steadily and in a measured fashion with school leaders 
coalescing around these compelling values.

School Phase/Age 
range  

Date joined 
TFT 

Capacity Roll as at 
October 
2025
Census 

Notes 

President Kennedy School Secondary 
11 – 19 

1.10.13 1,600 1,804 President Kennedy was the 
founding school and serves the 
North West of Coventry.

Barr’s Hill School Secondary 
11- 19 

1.10.15 805 1,081 Barr’s Hill serves a catchment 
close to the centre of Coventry. 

Parkgate Primary School Primary
3 - 11 

1.2.17 630 623 Parkgate serves a catchment 
area adjacent to President 
Kennedy, converted to academy 
status and joined TFT in 2017. 

Keresley Grange Primary 
Academy 

Primary
3 -11 

1.2.17 315 320 Keresley Grange serves a 
catchment in the North of 
Coventry and converted to 
academy status and joined TFT.  

Stoke Park School Secondary
11-19 

1.10.17 1,116 1,101 Stoke Park School serves a 
catchment close to the centre of 
Coventry, converted to academy 
status and joined TFT as a 
sponsored school. 

Keresley Newland Primary 
Academy 

Primary
3-11 

1.12.18 210 169 Keresley Newland transferred 
from NET Academies to TFT and 
joined as a sponsored school. 

The Hinckley School Secondary  
11-19

1.12.20 1,450 1,073 The Hinckley School serves a 
catchment in the Hinckley area 
of South Leicestershire, was 
previously a SAT and joined TFT 
as a sponsored school. 

Camp Hill Primary School Primary 
2-11

1.3.22 480 410 Camp Hill serves a catchment in 
Nuneaton and converted to 
academy status and joined TFT. 

Coundon Court School Secondary 
11-19 

1.3.24 2,025 1,911 Coundon Court serves a 
catchment in the North of 
Coventry was previously a SAT. 

Redmoor Academy Secondary 
11-16

1.4.25 925 993 Redmoor Academy serves a 
catchment in the south of 
Leicestershire, was previously a 
SAT and joined TFT as a Good 
school. 
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STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT
Constitution
The Futures Trust is a company limited by guarantee and an exempt charity. The Charitable Company’s 
Memorandum and Articles of Association are the primary governing documents of the Academy Trust.

The trustees act as directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law, as well as fulfilling their 
obligations as trustees for the charitable activities of The Futures Trust. The charitable company is known as The 
Futures Trust. Details of the trustees are included in the Reference and Administrative Details on page 1.

Members' liability
Each member of the Charitable Company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the Charitable Company in the 
event of it being wound up while they are a member, or within one year after they cease to be a member, such 
amount as may be required, not exceeding £10, for the debts and liabilities contracted before they ceased to be a 
member.

Trustees' indemnities
The Academy Trust has opted into the Department for Education’s Risk Protection Arrangement (RPA), an 
alternative to insurance where UK government funds cover losses that arise. This scheme protects Trustees and 
officers from claims arising from negligent acts, errors or omissions occurring whilst on Academy Trust business, 
and provides cover up to £10,000,000.

Method of recruitment and appointment or election of Trustees
The Trustees are responsible for:

� The strategic management of The Futures Trust.
� Agreeing the strategic plans for The Futures Trust including the Development Plans of schools within the 

Academy Trust and monitoring educational standards.
� Setting and agreeing Academy Trust policy.
� Reviewing the Academy Trust’s major risks and ensuring that these are managed within agreed limits.
� Agreeing and monitoring the Academy Trust’s budget and financial health.
� Appointing the Chief Executive Officer and holding him or her to account.

The Board of Trustees has established procedures that enable regular reviews of the mix of skills and experience 
that should be available to the board. New trustees with the appropriate skills and experience are sought either as 
replacements for trustees who retire from the board, or as additional trustees. Most Local Governing Committee 
governors are drawn from the community served by the school and are often parents or carers of students who 
attend the school. Trustees and governors are recruited by advertising in school newsletters, by direct approaches 
or where specific skills are sought, via Inspiring Governance and Academy Ambassadors.

The method of appointment, election and removal of trustees and governors is set out in The Futures Trust's Articles 
of Association.

Policies and procedures adopted for the induction and training of Trustees
Induction and training provided for new trustees is adapted according to their skills and experience. Upon 
appointment, all trustees receive an induction pack. The pack outlines the roles and responsibilities of a Company 
Director and Charity Trustee and includes key documents such as the Academy Governance Guide and the most 
recent Academies Trust Handbook. New trustees attend welcome meetings with the CEO and key members of the 
Exec Team. Throughout the year, Trustees are provided with training opportunities, either at Board meetings or 
planned sessions and where appropriate include education, charity, legal and financial training. Trustees receive 
regular communication in relation to updates across the Academy Trust and developments within the sector.

All trustees and governors receive an Induction Pack relevant to the individual school and updates from RSM, legal 
firm Stone King, the National Governance Association and The Key for School Governors throughout the year. A 
thorough Induction and Training Programme for governors and trustees was delivered during the academic year, 
including a training session “How to be a great governor”.
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The Futures Trust Governance Framework
The Futures Trust is governed by a Board of Trustees who is responsible for, and oversees, the management and 
administration of the Academy Trust and its schools.

The Futures Trust is the only legal entity accountable for all the schools within the Academy Trust. The Futures Trust 
has entered into a master funding agreement with the Secretary of State which governs all schools in the Academy 
Trust.

The trustees are accountable to external government agencies including the Charity Commission and the 
Department for Education for the quality of the education they provide, and they are required to have systems in 
place through which they can assure themselves of quality, safety, probity and good practice. To discharge these 
responsibilities, the trustees appoint individuals to serve on committees which focus on specific matters such as 
Education and Standards, Finance, Resources, Audit and Risk.

A Local Governing Committee (LGC) oversees each school in the Academy Trust. The LGC is focused on the day to 
day running of each school, specifically the educational outcomes for the pupils it serves.

A Scheme of Delegation outlines the ways in which the trustees fulfil their responsibilities for the leadership and 
management of The Futures Trust, the respective roles and responsibilities of the Board of Trustees, their 
Committees, the Chief Executive Officer, Head Teacher and the Local Governing Committee of each school and the 
commitments to each other to ensure the success of The Futures Trust.

Each LGC is awarded a high degree of autonomy to exercise responsibility for and oversight of the following 
(consistent with all policies, objectives and targets adopted at the Trust level): Safeguarding, Standards, SEND, 
Stakeholders and Strategic Direction.

Organisational structure
As a charity and company limited by guarantee, The Futures Trust is governed by a Board of Trustees which is 
responsible for, and oversees, the management and administration of the Trust and the academies within the Trust.

There is a comprehensive Scheme of Delegation in place, which outlines the ways in which the Trustees fulfil their 
responsibilities for the leadership and management of The Futures Trust, the respective roles and responsibilities of 
the Board of Trustees, their Committees, the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Headteachers and the LGC of each 
academy and, the commitments to each other to ensure the success of The Futures Trust.

The CEO, appointed by the Board of Trustees, is the Accounting Officer of The Futures Trust. The CEO is 
responsible for leading the development of and execution of the Trust’s strategy. The CEO has ultimate 
responsibility for all day to day management decisions and delegates responsibility to specific budget holders for 
expenditure within controlled limits, within the financial threshold set by the Board of Trustees.

Headteachers, supported by a leadership team, are responsible for the leadership and management of their 
academy, and report directly to the CEO and are accountable to the LGC, and the Board of Trustees.

Risk Management
The trustees are responsible for the management of risks to which The Futures Trust is exposed. The Academy 
Trust has formulated its own Risk Management Policy and put in place sound systems of internal governance and 
control.

The controls used by the Academy Trust include:

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�
�
�

Formal agendas for Academy Trust and committee meetings.
A detailed Scheme of Delegation.
Detailed terms of reference for all committees.
School Development Plans for each school within the Academy Trust identifying key strategic planning 
objectives and the resources required to achieve them.
Budget planning, monitoring and review.
Clear financial delegation levels.
Formal written policies reviewed on a regular basis.
Clear safeguarding and vetting procedures as required by law to protect children and young people.
Rigorous review of educational achievement to ensure continuing high standards.
Comprehensive planning and review of admissions processes.
A risk based programme of audits throughout the year.
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Risk management (Continued)
The trustees, together with the MAT central team and the leaders of the Academy Trust's schools have identified 
and assessed material financial, operational and strategic risks which, if unmanaged, could impact educational 
standards, the Academy Trust's reputation and/or financial well-being. These are regularly monitored and updated.

A comprehensive list of these risks has been compiled within the Academy Trust's 'Risk Register'. Mitigating actions 
have been identified and policies have been put in place and are reviewed regularly. Risk factors which are beyond 
the Academy Trust's control, such as rising staff costs and the national funding formula, are monitored and planned 
for.

The Futures Trust recognises potential threats which could lead to business interruption and has created individual 
school Business Interruption Continuity Plans to ensure that its critical activities can be maintained within agreed 
recovery time objectives.

The Futures Trust has comprehensive insurance cover through the Risk Protection Arrangement (RPA) to ensure 
that if risks materialise, the impact is limited to quantifiable limits.

The Board of Trustees is satisfied that the major risks identified have been adequately mitigated where necessary. It 
is recognised, however, that systems can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance that major risks have 
been adequately managed.

Principal risks and uncertainties
The following significant financial and business risks have been identified and continue to be managed by the 
trustees:

�
�

�
�
�
�

Safeguarding students continues to be the Academy Trust's number one priority.
Securing outstanding educational outcomes for all students whilst navigating significant national policy 
changes.
Estates safety and management.  
ICT and Cyber security.
Financial Sustainability given funding constraints.
Recruitment and retention of outstanding teachers and support staff. 

Financial and risk management objectives and policies
The trustees have assessed the major risks to which the Academy Trust is exposed, in particular those relating to 
the specific teaching, provision of facilities and other operational areas of the academies within the Academy Trust, 
and its finances. The trustees have implemented several systems to assess these risks as well as operational 
procedures and internal controls to manage these risks. Where significant financial risk remains, they have ensured 
they have adequate insurance cover.

The Academy Trust is party to a PFI agreement is respect of the school buildings at President Kennedy School. This 
agreement runs for a period of 25 years under terms agreed between the Department for Education and Coventry 
City Council.

Arrangements for setting pay and remuneration of key management personnel
The Board of Trustees makes decisions regarding the setting of pay and remuneration for key management 
personnel working across the Academy Trust. The Board directly considers the pay of the CEO and all Head 
teachers on an annual basis and delegates the performance management of the Academy Trust's Central Team to 
the CEO who makes recommendations to the Board regarding pay. When considering senior pay, the Board takes 
account of the need to secure the knowledge, experience, skills and personal capabilities required to enable the 
Academy Trust to achieve its educational objectives, the price of such skills in the labour market and the need to 
ensure equality and the effective use of public money. To that effect, the Board commissions external independent 
advice where it deems necessary.
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Section 172 Statement
In accordance with Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006, the duty to promote the success of The Futures Trust 
was complied with by the Directors who form our Board of Trustees.

The Board of Trustees is committed to building brighter futures for the Academy Trust's learners, staff, communities 
and all its stakeholders. To deliver its aims, the board approves the Academy Trust's strategic plan and reviews 
performance against this regularly. All decisions are consistent with The Futures Trust's strategic plan and the best 
long-term interests of the Academy Trust and its stakeholders in mind.

Part of the Academy Trust's plan is focused on the importance of its employees and staff well-being strategy and 
initiatives are in train. The issue of staff workload is regularly reviewed, and appropriate actions are taken to 
address any concerns. The Academy Trust enjoys productive working relationships with the trade unions.

Trustees understand the importance of maintaining productive relationships with stakeholders, underlined by a 
strong sense of purpose. The CEO and his staff proactively collaborate with a variety of stakeholders across the 
education sector and share knowledge and best practice.

High standards of business conduct are always maintained. The Academy Trust holds regular meetings with 
suppliers and engages with them through different procurement processes to ensure good working relationships are 
developed and sustained.

The Futures Trust's impact on the community and environment is a priority for Trustees. The Academy Trust is 
engaged in raising educational standards across all its schools, which raises the aspirations and life chances of all 
its learners, which in turn, has a profound impact on those around them. Environmental concerns are addressed 
through capital investment in more efficient buildings and estates facilities and engaging with environmentally 
friendly schemes, such as Salix loans for energy saving lighting.

As an Academy Trust with charitable status, we are committed to 'learners first' in everything we do, both within and 
beyond the classroom. Our learners take priority in all things and their progress is monitored in detail and senior 
leaders are held to account.

The Futures Trust's reputation and business conduct are paramount to its future success and ability to deliver value 
to its various stakeholders. The Board of Trustees comprises a wealth of experience including business and 
educational expertise. Trustees understand their role in ensuring corporate governance best practice is followed and 
are supported in their work by the Finance, Resources, Audit and Risk Committee and the Education, Standards 
and Performance Committee.

Trade union facility time
Relevant union officials
Number of employees who were relevant union officials during 
the relevant period 5
Full-time equivalent employee number 4.40

Percentage of time spent on facility time
Percentage of time Number of employees
0% -
1%-50% 5
51%-99% -
100% -

Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time
Total cost of facility time 15,604
Total pay bill 53,234,000
Percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility time -

Paid trade union activities
Time spent on paid trade union activities as a percentage of 
total paid facility time hours 100%
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Related parties, connected charities and co-operation with other organisations
All members, trustees and governors complete a business and pecuniary interests declaration form annually which 
sets out the relationship with The Futures Trust that is not directly related to their duties as trustees. The entries on 
the Register are checked, confirmed or updated at every meeting. Trustees are required to declare any potential 
conflicts of interest as they arise and take no further part in any decision relating to the matter declared.

The Register of Business & Pecuniary Interests for members, trustees and governors is available on The Futures 
Trust’s website. The Register of Business & Pecuniary Interests for Local Governing Committees can also be found 
on the respective school’s websites.

Engagement with suppliers, customers and others in a business relationship with the Academy Trust
The Trust continues to work and communicate with suppliers to ensure strong and effective relationships are built. 
The Trust has engaged with suppliers throughout the year outlining any changes in policies and procedures. Fraud 
training is delivered by the central finance team to ensure that staff remain vigilant to the risk of fraud.

The Trust is proud of the communities that it serves and aims to contribute positively to the social wellbeing of these 
communities by providing affordable lettings to community groups. This includes a number of schools in the Trust 
who offer community access to sporting facilities and the hiring of indoor space. Communication with these 
customers is carried out at an academy level.

Procurement processes are overseen by the central procurement team, who lead on high-value tenders and ensure 
that procurement activity is fair, competitive, and compliant with relevant regulations. 

OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES
Objects and aims
The charitable objectives ('the Object') for which the Academy Trust was formed are set out in its Articles of 
Association. The Multi Academy Trust (the 'MAT') is specifically restricted to the following: to advance for the public 
benefit education in the United Kingdom, in particular but without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing by 
establishing, maintaining, carrying on, managing and developing a school offering a broad and balanced curriculum.

Objectives, strategies and activities
Our beliefs and values are critical to providing our identity. They shape our strategic thinking and act as reference 
points to develop our operational practice. They underpin our decision-making throughout the Trust and serve as a 
catalyst to address complex and difficult issues so as to act and focus upon our vision of building brighter futures. 
Our leaders sign up to these compelling beliefs and live them every day.

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Learners first, it's about learning, no barriers:  a simple framework for decision making.
Every young person to be held of equal value.
The development of the whole child is integral to their learning.
Learners achieve through high quality curriculum, support and experiences.
We are better together in a professional learning community.
Individual school identify matters.

The Futures Trust Strategic Plan
In September 2023, the Trust launched its new 5 Year Strategic Plan. The vision of the Trust to ‘Build Brighter 
Futures’ has not changed. Neither has the core mission, ‘to make a difference’ by raising the horizons and ambitions 
of those who learn, work and live within the diverse communities the Trust serves so that they shape their own 
futures and seize opportunities.

The Futures Trust is committed to the principle of excellence through collaboration and partnership. We believe we 
are better together in a professional learning community, working in partnership in local areas. From this shared 
commitment and belief in mutual support, we gain our sense of belonging.
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The Futures Trust Strategic Plan (continued) 
Our ambitions:

1.Exceptional outcomes – learners at all key stages outperform their peers nationally with disadvantaged 
learners above average for all learners nationally.
2.Transformed life chances – learners are confident with strong communication skills.  At KS4 and KS5 
they progress to aspirational destinations and sustain them.
3.Constant Improvement – All schools consistently strong and sustainable, with a clear culture of always 
striving for much, much more.
4.Quality people – Fully staffed with specialists everywhere.  Employer of first choice.
5.Healthy finances – Balanced budgets and stable reserve to unleash school improvement(s) and student 
opportunity.

Our Strategic Themes:

1. Achievement – All learners prepared for the next stage of their education, employment or training
2. Community - Enabling a connected powerful education community
3. Experience – All learners have the opportunity to engage in activities, experiences and responsibilities 
that enable them to develop and flourish.

The themes are underpinned by 5 enablers: 

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

People and Organisation
Trust sustainability
Civic partnerships 
Estates and Environmental Responsibility
Digital Connectivity

The Academy Trust's approach to school improvement is well established with a track record of significant impact. It 
is based upon developing and sharing practical strategies that work in the classroom as well as supporting all 
students to achieve their potential. The Academy Trust is constantly seeking ways to improve the following in all of 
our settings:

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

Learner Outcomes
Teaching and Learning
Communication Skills
Support
Curriculum
Leadership
Continuous Professional Development

Public benefit
The trustees confirm that they have referred to the guidance contained in the Charity Commission's general 
guidance on public benefit when reviewing the Academy Trust's objectives and aims and in planning future activities 
for the year. In accordance with its charitable objectives, the primary purpose of The Futures Trust is to ensure that 
students who attend the Academy Trust's schools achieve the best possible educational outcomes and life chances 
beyond school. The students are therefore the beneficiaries of the Academy Trust and benefits for students are 
provided by ensuring the highest standard of teaching and learning in all the Academy Trust's schools.
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STRATEGIC REPORT
Achievements and performance
Educational Achievements and Key Performance Indicators
For the accounting year ending 31 August 2025, The Futures Trust was responsible for nine schools rising to ten 
from April 2025; four primary and six secondary schools. In total, there are 9,485 learners aged from 3 to 19 and 
1,247 staff across the Trust at the year end.

Redmoor Academy, previously a Single Academy Trust, in South Leicestershire chose to join the Trust, joining 
formally on 1 April 2025. Redmoor is a strong school educationally and brings significant strength in depth and 
capacity in educational leadership. It’s location, close to The Hinckley School, and Camp Hill School, also creates 
natural local area collaboration with the Trusts existing schools and therefore brings real opportunity for the Trust. 

Despite the continuing sector-wide financial pressures including inflation, the SEND crisis, and the cost-of-living 
pressures, the Trust has managed its resources efficiently during the year. This was particularly challenging for our 
schools as they serve areas of high disadvantage and so many of these national challenges were exacerbated for 
our students and families.

During the year, 3 Ofsted inspections all saw positive outcomes. There is only one school in the Trust that does not 
have a Good judgement; it joined the Trust in March 2024. The Trust were particularly delighted that outcomes in 
inspections demonstrated the significant improvement in all the schools, the depth and sustainability of the 
approach to school improvement at the primary phase, and the leadership capacity in those schools.  The Trust was 
particularly proud of the very strong inspection report for Parkgate School, an ungraded inspection, but with all the 
hallmarks of a school with strong elements of outstanding provision.

The Trust is pleased with the decision of the largest school in Coventry to join the Trust in the prior year. Coundon 
Court transferred to the Trust in March 2024. This has brought real opportunity for local collaboration at scale and 
the further broadening of the Post 16 offer from Trust schools in Coventry. The scale of the school means that it also 
offers The Trust the ability to develop even deeper long-term sustainability as an organisation. Coundon has made 
significant improvement strides since joining the Trust in the summer brought a much improved set of student 
outcomes with further improvement anticipated in future years.

Trust primary schools saw strong performance in standards in 2024-25. With the schools serving communities with 
high levels of deprivation, pupils made accelerated rates of progress, often from very low starting points.

Trust secondary school pupils, including disadvantaged pupils, secure strong outcomes at Key Stage 4 and make 
significantly more progress from their staring points compared to national.  The significant improvement in outcomes 
at The Hinckley School and at Coundon Court were particular pleasing as validations of the improvement journey’s 
they are on.  Post 16 outcomes for the 5 schools that offer provision were very strong. This led to destinations that 
were significantly above national averages in all measures in all schools. Given the Trusts vision to ‘Build Brighter
Futures’ this is highly significant.

Schools within The Futures Trust live the Trust’s vision of ‘Building Brighter Futures’. They have an embedded 
culture that inspires and empowers students to excel, helping them make strong progress irrespective of their 
starting points. Students receive high quality teaching and learning through an ambitious and aspirational curriculum 
that is inclusive and enriching. Schools prioritise the development of communication skills, which ensure that 
students are ready for the next stage of their lives; they possess strong reading, writing, oracy, numeracy, and 
vocabulary skills and the Trust and its school invest heavily in ensuring that students have a well-informed 
understanding of, and exposure to, careers and the world of work. A broad range of enrichment activities and 
experiences, including sport and performing arts, afford students opportunities to lead, provide service to others and 
develop strong character. Many Trust schools are advocates of Attachment and Trauma Informed (AATI) practice 
and have strong ‘wrap around’ pastoral support for students and their families. Trust secondary schools often 
choose to operate ‘The Bridge’ model, an innovative approach to transition from Year 6 into Year 7 that delivers the 
above principles.
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Educational Achievements and Key Performance Indicators (continued)
All Trust schools have an impressive record of students securing their first-choice destination, and for schools that 
have been within the Trust longer, academic outcomes, including those for disadvantaged students, are at or above 
national benchmarks in almost all key measures. This includes being significantly better than national for 
attendance and significantly below national for suspensions and exclusions, despite the highly challenging contexts 
of almost all Trust schools. Where outcomes are not yet good enough, the Trust strongly supports schools through 
its impactful scheme of delegation to ensure rapid improvement. The track record of the Trust in this area is very 
strong.

This inclusive approach with high expectations and a clear focus on outcomes that drive life chances is exemplified
in the most recent Ofsted inspections in Trust schools:

“The school has a lovely culture, The Trust has provided strong oversight and Governance is robust.  The Trust 
knows how to balance holding the school to account whilst providing strong support”

Keresley Grange School – February 2025

“New leaders have taken rapid action, their tenacity is accelerating improvement. Governance at all levels is a real 
strength.  The Trust is forensic in it’s work.””

Camp Hill School – February 2025 

“There is exploratory practice that is worth sharing.  Leaders are relentless in removing barriers to learning, 
inclusivity at the school is really impressive”

Parkgate School –March 2025 

Through the Futures Teaching Alliance and Futures Education Institute, which are run by the Trust, Trust schools 
have undertaken extensive collaboration with other schools and national partners helping grow our strategic 
partnerships and regional influence. This has helped secure a pipeline of teachers and develop talent through high 
quality CPD programmes.

�

�

The Futures Education Institute provides Early Career Framework training to 60 schools in the region, a full 
suite of National Professional Qualifications for teachers, delivered leadership training for 1,000+ 
delegates, alongside a wide range of other courses for teaching and support staff with over 250 staff 
involved. In addition, it facilitates a national Trauma Informed Attachment Awareness in Schools 
programme for 45 schools in the region with over 400 schools engaged in some form. Training programmes 
for non-teaching pastoral staff developed by the FEI with the SSAT are being rolled out nationally by the 
SSAT to other organisations.  FEI was also accredited as the first national SSAT Leadership Regional Hub 
in July 2025, in recognition of its leadership training to 200+ colleagues.  

The Futures Teaching Alliance collaborates with over 50 schools across the region and is the largest Teach 
First SCITT provider of initial teacher training nationally. For the academic year 2025-26 an amazing 42 
trainee teachers have been recruited. It is also working at the forefront of training as a Teacher 
Apprenticeship provider with the first 3 staff already engaged on the programme.

Key Financial Performance Indicators
The key performance indicators monitored by the Central Team and Board of Trustees on a regular basis are as 
follows:

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

Employee costs as a percentage of income
Pupil numbers versus capacity and opportunity cost
Monthly management accounts versus budget
Forecast management accounts up to period end versus budget
GAG income versus expenditure
Days lost due to employee absence and percentage of funding spent on supply staff
Employee and other costs per student benchmarked against national medians
Average teacher cost benchmarked against national medians
Average support staff cost benchmarked against national medians
Monthly cash flow forecasts
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Financial review
Most of the Academy Trust's income is obtained from the DfE in the form of recurrent grants, the use of which is 
restricted to particular purposes. The grants received from the DfE during the period ended 31 August 2025, and 
the associated expenditure, are shown as restricted funds in the statement of financial activities.

During the year ended 31 August 2025, the Academy Trust’s total expenditure was £71,159k (2024: £55,815k) 
compared to £110,593k (2024: £95,626k) total incoming resources including grant funding from the DfE together 
with other incoming resources. Excluding the impact of schools converted, pension scheme movements and 
capital movements (including donated assets of £9,428k), incoming resources were £68,733k (2024: £53,890k) 
compared to expenditure of £68,551k (2024: £54,003k). The majority of the increased income was from GAG 
funding.

Total staff costs represent approximately 79% (2024: 78%) of available income. The increases in staff costs have 
been driven by nationally agreed pay rises, and by progression within pay scales.

Educational funding received from DfE grants during the year was £64,070k (2024: £50,602k). From the pupil 
number censuses, total pupil numbers in the relevant years have increased by 3.0% (2024: 3.0%).

During the year ended 31 August 2025, there was a decrease in cash of £134k (2024: decrease of £137k). The 
net movement in cash included a £1,434k outflow in respect of operating cash flows (2024: £541k inflow) plus 
inflows of £1,357k (2024: £626k outflow) in respect of investing activities, plus outflows of £57k (2024: £52k
outflow) in respect of financing activities.

In accordance with correct disclosure requirements, the financial information which is presented in the Statement of 
Financial Activities includes assets and liabilities transferred from academies upon transferring in and transactions 
in the restricted fixed asset fund. Such presentation can obscure an overview of the operating performance of the 
Academy Trust. Under the accounting standards, it is necessary to charge projected deficits on the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS), provided to support staff, to the restricted fund. This resulted in reducing the 
reserves in the restricted fund. It should be noted that this does not present the Academy Trust with any current 
liquidity problems.

The trustees consider that the financial position is appropriate considering the need to balance the immediate 
expenditure of the Academy Trust with their longer-term commitments and current cash reserves.

Reserves policy
The Academy Trusts’ policy is to generate reserves in order to fund future projects which will improve the 
educational experiences and outcomes for students. The level and use of reserves are reviewed at least annually 
by the Board of Trustees.

Reserves are held as follows:

�
�
�
�
�

To cover working capital requirements.
As a contingency to meet unforeseen expenditure.
To fund planned future capital expenditure (forming part of the restricted fixed asset fund).
To cover a fall or rise in sources of income. 
The need to fund potential deficits in a cash budget, for example money may need to be spent before 
funding is raised or received.

The level of reserves is kept under review by the Trustees, and they assess them in relation to these purposes.

At 31 August 2025, the Academy Trust’s reserves totalled £158,343k the majority of which are held as fixed 
assets and therefore not available to be spent by the Academy Trust.

The deficit on restricted general funds totalled £1,127k. Excluding the pension reserve and pension provision the 
total restricted general fund was £nil. The total of £nil is in relation to General Annual Grant. These monies will be 
spent in line with guidelines of the income.

The balance on the unrestricted funds carried forward of £2,820k which will be used within the Academy Trust's 
charitable objectives.
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Investment policy
The Trustees' powers to invest cash reserves are set out in the Academy Trust's Memorandum and Articles of 
Association, which permit the investment of funds that, are not immediately required for educational purposes 
subject to any restrictions which may from time to time be imposed by law.

Trustees are firmly committed to ensuring that all funds under their control are administered in such a way as to 
maximise return while minimising risk. Trustees consider the investment of surplus funds not as a primary activity, 
but rather a requirement for the effective management of the various funds entrusted to the Board.

Trustees' management of cash flow should ensure that there are always sufficient funds in the main bank accounts 
to cover operational costs. Banks must be selected from the FSA Approved List included in the Financial Services 
Compensation Scheme (FSCS).

The Academy Trust's current policy is to invest in low risk, short-term cash deposits. Cash reserves are currently 
deposited within Barclays Bank.

Plans for future periods
The Academy Trust remains committed to building brighter futures for everybody within our community and 
improving the educational outcomes, destinations and life chances for those students that attend its schools.

The trustees are committed to a policy of measured strategic expansion of the number of primary and secondary 
schools which are welcomed into the Academy Trust. Priority will be given to new schools that could join the 
Academy Trust, in Coventry, Warwickshire and Leicestershire.

At a time of heightened regulation and increasingly constrained resources, it is essential that schools work together 
to share business best practice and benefit from economies of scale in areas such as H.R., ICT, facilities, finance 
and procurement. The Futures Trust will continue to develop effective and efficient professional business services 
that are fit for purpose, compliant with standards required from academy schools and add real value to the 
educational outcomes for the young people served by every school.

Going concern
After making appropriate enquiries, the Board of Trustees has a reasonable expectation at the time of approving 
the financial statements, that the Academy Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for 
the foreseeable future. Following the uncertainty presented by the economic position, management has
reassessed the going concern assumption and confirms that it remains appropriate based on the strong cash 
and net asset position which enables it to meet its liabilities as they fall due. The Trustees make this assessment 
in respect of a period of at least one year from the date of authorisation for issue of the financial statements and 
have concluded that the Academy Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future and there are no material uncertainties about the Academy Trust's ability to continue as a 
going concern. Thus, they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial 
statements.

Further details regarding the adoption of the going concern basis can be found in the Accounting Policies.

Fundraising
No professional fundraisers or commercial participators have been engaged.

The Academy Trust abides by the Code of Fundraising practice. Fundraising activity in this financial year consisted 
of applications to grant making trusts and National Lottery funded organisations. No appeals to members of the 
public have been made.

The fundraising function of the Academy Trust is monitored through regular line management, the review of grant 
applications and the monitoring and evaluation of grants received.
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Employee consultation and disabled employees
The Trust consults employees and their recognised representatives regarding matters of concern to them, and 
employees are kept informed and given the opportunity to provide feedback on specific matters directly by 
management. The Trust has a range of policies in place in relation to personnel matters which are made available to 
staff in each of the trust schools, and the Trust encourages and values employee voice and participation. Forums for 
communication include staff briefings, school portals, meetings with representatives, website postings, training and 
professional development activities, exit interviews and direct mail and hard copy communications.

The Trust is committed to equality of opportunity and values diversity and the different contributions that the people 
who become members of our staffing community are able to make. All staff are selected on the basis of their 
knowledge, experience, skills, abilities and potential, and are chosen because they will successfully and positively 
add value, raise standards and bring the Trust's values to life. The Trust's recruitment, selection, retention and 
professional development activities are implemented with due regard to the Equality Act 2010, the Equality Duty, 
and the duty to make reasonable adjustments, and no person will be discriminated against on the basis of age, sex 
or sexual orientation. The Trust recognised that people's needs will change throughout their working lives and is 
committed to developing and delivering working practices and policies that are responsive to this.

Streamlined energy and carbon reporting
The Futures Trust as determined by sections 465 and 466 of the Companies Act 2006 and because it consumes 
more than 40,000 kWh of energy in a reporting period must include within the Trustees’ Report the following 
information. 

UK Greenhouse gas emissions and energy use data for the accounting period 1st September 2024 to 31st August 
2025. 

UK Greenhouse gas emissions and energy use data for the period
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Quantification and reporting methodology
We have followed the 2019 HM Government Environmental Reporting Guidelines. We have also used the GHG 
Reporting protocol – Corporate Standard and have used the 2025 UK Government’s Conversion Factors for 
Company Reporting.

Intensity measurement
The chosen intensity measurement ratio is total gross emissions in metric tonnes CO2 equivalent per pupil, the 
recommended ratio for the sector.

Total energy consumption has reduced in kWh slightly across the Trust from 9,205,111kWh in 2024 to
11,616,373kWh in the year ending 31 August 2025.     

The total tonnes of CO2 emissions have increased within the same period from 4,011.60 to 7,049.55.

The intensity ration of 0.75 denotes the number of tonnes of CO2 produced per pupil across all Trust schools and 
this has increased from 0.61.

Measures taken to improve energy efficiency
All schools have completed comprehensive decarbonisation surveys to identify further opportunities for reducing 
carbon emissions and improving energy efficiency. Stoke Park have installed high-efficiency replacement boilers 
with future compatibility for hydrogen fuel conversion. Parkgate have upgraded the heating system with inverter-
driven pumps to enhance energy performance and reduce consumption and also Fitted new double-glazed windows 
in the kitchen area to improve thermal insulation and reduce heat loss. President Kennedy and Barr’s Hill have 
installed an electric vehicle (EV) charging point to support sustainable transportation initiatives.

FUNDS HELD AS CUSTODIAN TRUSTEE ON BEHALF OF OTHERS
The Trust is currently holding funds on behalf of Hinckley and Bosworth Education Partnership. The balance of 
these funds at the period end is £99,527. The balance is made up of funding from the Local Authority, income from 
other Schools, Special Needs Funding, Social Care and other Grants. The funds are held for the purposes of 
providing educational services for students who cannot attend school due to the risk of exclusion.

AUDITOR
RSM UK Audit LLP were re-appointed as the Academy Trust's external auditors.

Statement as to disclosure of information to auditors
The Trustees have confirmed that, as far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
auditor is unaware. Each of the Trustees have confirmed that they have taken all the steps that they ought to have 
taken as Trustees in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that it has 
been communicated to the auditor.

The Trustees' Report is approved by order of the board of trustees and the strategic report (included therein) 
is approved by the board of trustees in their capacity as the directors at a meeting on 10 December 2025 and 
signed on its behalf by:

..............................
Mr A Fitzpatrick
Chair of the Board



THE FUTURES TRUST

GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

- 16 -

Scope of responsibility
As Trustees, we acknowledge we have overall responsibility for ensuring that The Futures Trust has an effective 
and appropriate system of control, financial and otherwise. However, such a system is designed to manage rather 
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can provide only reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

As Trustees, we have reviewed and taken account of the guidance in DfE's Academy Governance Guide.

The Board of Trustees has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the Chief Executive Officer, as Accounting 
Officer, for ensuring financial controls conform with the requirements of both propriety and good financial 
management and in accordance with the requirements and responsibilities assigned to it in the Funding Agreement 
between The Futures Trust and the Secretary of State for Education. They are also responsible for reporting to the 
Board of Trustees any material weaknesses or breakdowns in internal control.

Governance
The information on governance included here supplements that described in the Trustees' Report and in the 
Statement of Trustees' Responsibilities. There were five Board meetings during 2024/25, one extraordinary Board 
and one Strategic Session. Attendance during the year at meetings of the Board of Trustees was as follows:

Trustees Meetings attended Out of possible

Mr A Fitzpatrick (Chair of the Board) 6 6
Ms K Morris (Vice Chair of the Board and Chair of Audit and Risk 
Committee ('ARC')) 4 6
Mrs H Quinn (Chair of Education, Standards & Performance Committee 
('ESPC')) 5 6
Mrs C Blair 5 5
Mr D Loudon (Chair of Finance and Resources Committee ('FRC')) 5 6
Mrs P Heer 4 5
Mr M Moseley 5 5
Mrs J Thompson 5 5
Mr M Stokes 4 5
Mr A Cape (Appointed 1 September 2025) 0 0

The difference in number of meetings attended, was that chairs of committees plus the chair of board attended 
the EOB meeting which was to provide final sign off for Redmoor joining.

Governance reviews
The quality of Governance is kept under constant review and where appropriate changes to the membership of 
the Members, Board of Trustees, its sub committees and Local Governing Committees are implemented. The 
company secretary ensures that governance knowledge and training is closely tracked and takes action to 
address any areas for development. An External Review of Governance was undertaken by the National 
Governance Association in Spring 2023 which was very positive, and confirmed the Trust is "very effective and 
trustees are undertaking their core functions with diligence".

To discharge their responsibilities effectively, the Board of Trustees appoint individuals to serve on Committees 
which focus on specific matters such as education, standards, academic performance, finance and resources, 
risk and audit.

The Board of Trustees has three Committees:
�
�
�

Audit & Risk Committee
Finance & Resources Committee
Education, Standards & Performance Committee

The purpose of the Audit and Risk Committee is to oversee all systems of governance and internal control and 
ensure risk management processes and audit functions are in place and fit for purpose across the Academy 
Trust and its academies.
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Attendance at Audit & Risk Committee meetings in the 2024/25 academic year was as follows: 

Trustees Meetings attended Out of possible

Mr A Fitzpatrick (Chair of the Board) 3 4
Ms K Morris (Vice Chair of the Board and Chair of Audit and Risk 
Committee ('ARC')) 3 4
Mr D Loudon (Chair of Finance and Resources Committee ('FRC')) 4 4
Mrs P Heer 0 4
Mr M Moseley 4 4

The purpose of the Finance and Resources Committee is to exercise responsibility for, and oversight of, the 
finances, assets and staff within the Academy Trust and its academies. 

Attendance at Finance and Resources Committee meetings in the 2024/25 academic year was as follows:

Trustees Meetings attended Out of possible

Mr A Fitzpatrick (Chair of the Board) 4 5
Ms K Morris (Vice Chair of the Board and Chair of Audit and Risk 
Committee ('ARC')) 4 5
Mr D Loudon (Chair of Finance and Resources Committee ('FRC')) 5 5
Mrs P Heer 0 5
Mr M Moseley 5 5

The purpose of the Education, Standards & Performance Committee is to ensure all schools secure a Good or 
better Ofsted judgement in accordance with the overarching criteria in the Ofsted Inspection Framework for the 
quality of education, behaviour and attitudes, personal development and leadership and management

Attendance at ESPC meetings in the 2024/25 academic year was as follows:

Trustees Meetings attended Out of possible

Mrs H Quinn (Chair of Education, Standards & Performance Committee 
('ESPC')) 3 3
Mrs J Thompson 3 3
Mr M Stokes 3 3

Review of value for money
As Accounting Officer, the Chief Executive Officer has responsibility for ensuring that the Academy Trust delivers 
good value in the use of public resources. The Accounting Officer understands that value for money refers to the 
educational and wider societal outcomes, as well as estate safety and management, achieved in return for the 
taxpayer resources received.

The Accounting Officer considers how the Academy Trust's use of its resources has provided good value for money 
during each academic year, and reports to the Board of Trustees where value for money can be improved, including 
the use of benchmarking data where available. The Accounting Officer for the Academy Trust has delivered 
improved value for money during the year by:

�

�

�

Improving the outcomes for pupils at key Stage 2 so that attainment and progress are above 
national levels.
Improving the outcomes for pupils at Key Stage 4 so that attainment and progress are above 
national levels in all schools that have been in the Academy Trust for more than 3 years.
Improving outcomes and student destinations at Key Stage 5 so that attainment, process and 
destinations measures are broadly at or above national levels despite highly inclusive entry 
requirements.
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Review of value for money (continued)
�

�

�

�
�

�

�

Keresley Grange School, Parkgate School and Camp Hill school received strong Ofsted reports. In 
all cases this demonstrated either significant improvement from previous provision or further 
development of already strong provision.
Enhancing staffing capacity and expertise both within the Central Team and at school level to 
ensure that it is well placed to deliver the best possible outcomes for students and deliver 
sustainable growth and leadership quality for the Academy Trust as a whole.
Providing Exceptional Learning Experiences for our learners such as 'Robot Wars', The Futures 
Trust Festival of Arts, The Coventry Rugby Pathway at P16, and Pathways to Oxbridge.
Sharing best practice with schools in our Academy Trust, the local community and beyond.
Continuous professional development and learning to develop current and future leaders across the 
Academy Trust including through the leadership of the Futures Teaching Alliance and Futures 
Education Institute which support over 60 schools regionally.
Reviewing best value procurement of services across the Academy Trust to achieve economies of 
scale and consistent outcomes.
Enhancing efficiency and effectiveness through a programme which has generated significant 
contract savings.

The purpose of the system of internal control
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of 
failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 
of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify and prioritise 
the risks to the achievement of Academy Trust policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks 
being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 
During the period 1 September 2024 - 31 August 2025, two Internal Scrutiny Reviews (ISR) were undertaken. The 
focus of these audits was Estates and Financial Budgeting. The system of internal control has been in place in The 
Futures Trust for the period 1 September 2024 to 31 August 2025 and up to the date of approval of the annual 
report and financial statements.

Capacity to handle risk
The Board of Trustees has reviewed the key risks to which the Academy Trust is exposed together with the 
operating, financial and compliance controls that have been implemented to mitigate those risks. The Board of 
Trustees is of the view that there is a formal on-going process for identifying, evaluating and managing the Academy 
Trust's significant risks that has been in place for the period 1 September 2024 - 31 August 2025 and up to the date 
of approval of the annual report and financial statements. This process is regularly reviewed by the Board of 
Trustees.

The risk and control framework
The Futures Trust's system of internal financial control is based on a framework of regular management information 
and administrative procedures including the segregation of duties and a system of delegation and accountability. It 
includes:

�

�

�
�
�
�
�

Comprehensive budgeting and monitoring systems with an annual budget and periodic financial reports 
which are reviewed and agreed by the Board of Trustees;
Regular reviews by trustees of reports which indicate financial performance against the forecasts and of 
major purchase plans, capital works and expenditure programmes;
Setting targets to measure financial and other performance;
Benchmarking performance against national standard metrics;
Clearly defined purchasing (asset purchase or capital investment) guidelines;
Delegation of authority and segregation of duties; and
Identification and management of risks.

The Board of Trustees has previously considered the need for a specific internal audit function and decided to 
appoint MLG internal audit specialists to perform additional checks.

The internal auditor's role includes giving advice on financial matters and performing a range of checks on the 
MAT's financial systems. On an annual basis, the internal auditor reports to the Trustees on the operation of the 
systems of control and on the discharge of the Board of Trustees' financial responsibilities. The internal auditor 
conducts an appraisal of the Academy Trust's system of internal controls focusing on financial management. The 
internal auditor delivered their schedule of work as planned and no fundamental control weaknesses were identified.
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The risk and control framework (continued)
The Board of Trustees has previously considered the need for a specific internal audit function and decided to 
appoint MLG internal audit specialists to perform additional checks.

The internal auditor's role includes giving advice on financial matters and performing a range of checks on the 
MAT's financial systems. On an annual basis, the internal auditor reports to the Trustees on the operation of the 
systems of control and on the discharge of the Board of Trustees' financial responsibilities. The internal auditor 
conducts an appraisal of the Academy Trust's system of internal controls focusing on financial management. The 
internal auditor delivered their schedule of work as planned and no fundamental control weaknesses were identified.

Managing conflicts of interest
It is the Academy Trust’s policy to maintain a register of business and pecuniary interests for all members, Trustees, 
governors, staff in the Central Team and senior employees including:

�
�
�

Directorships, partnerships and employments with businesses;
Trusteeships and governorships at other educational institutions and charities;
For each interest: the name and nature of the business; the nature of the interest and the date the interest 
began.

The register identifies any material interests arising from close family relationships between the Academy Trust's 
members, Trustees or local governors. It identifies relevant material interests arising from close family relationships 
between those individuals and employees. The Register of Business interests is published on the Academy Trust 
website.

It is a standing agenda item at Board and Committee meetings where Trustees declare any conflict of interest, both 
in relation to matters to be discussed at that meeting but also as a reminder for a more general declaration.

Review of effectiveness
As Accounting Officer, the Chief Executive Officer has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control. During the year in question, the review has been informed by:

� The work of the internal auditor;
� The work of the external auditor;
�
�

The financial management and governance self-assessment process;
The work of the executive managers within the Academy Trust who have responsibility for the development
and maintenance of the internal control framework.

The Accounting Officer has been advised of the implications of the result of their review of the system of internal 
control by the finance and resources committee and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous 
improvement of the system is in place.

Conclusion
Based on the advice of the audit and risk committee and the accounting officer, the board of trustees is of the 
opinion that the academy trust has an adequate and effective framework for governance, risk management and 
control.

Approved by order of the board of trustees on and signed on its behalf by:

Mr C JuppMr A Fitzpatrick 
Chair of the Board Accounting Officer

10 December 2025 
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As accounting officer of The Futures Trust, I confirm that I have had due regard to the framework of authorities 
governing regularity, propriety and compliance, including the trust’s funding agreement with DfE, and the 
requirements of the Academy Trust Handbook, including for estates safety and management. I have also
considered my responsibility to notify the Academy Trust board of trustees and DfE of material irregularity, 
impropriety and non-compliance with terms and conditions of all funding, including estates safety and management.

I confirm that I and the board of trustees are able to identify any material irregular or improper use of all funds by the 
Academy Trust, or material non-compliance with the framework of authorities.

I confirm that no instances of material irregularity, impropriety or non-compliance have been discovered to date. If 
any instances are identified after the date of this statement, these will be notified to the board of trustees and DfE.

Mr C Jupp
Accounting Officer

10 December 2025 
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The trustees (who are also the directors of The Futures Trust for the purposes of company law) are responsible for 
preparing the Trustees' report (including the strategic report) and the financial statements in accordance with the 
Academies Accounts Direction issued by the Department for Education, United Kingdom Accounting Standards 
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) and applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under company law, the 
Trustees must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the charitable company and of its incoming resources and application of resources, including 
its income and expenditure, for that period.

In preparing these financial statements, the Trustees are required to:

�
�

�
�

�

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP 2019 and the Academies Accounts Direction 2024 to 
2025;
make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
charitable company will continue in business.

The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
charitable company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
charitable company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. 
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charitable company and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Trustees are responsible for ensuring that in its conduct and operation the charitable company applies financial 
and other controls, which conform with the requirements both of propriety and of good financial management. They 
are also responsible for ensuring that grants received from the DfE have been applied for the purposes intended.

The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included 
on the charitable company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Approved by order of the members of the board of Trustees on 10 December 2025 and signed on its behalf by:

Mr A Fitzpatrick
Chair of the Board
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Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of The Futures Trust (the "charitable company") for the year ended 31 
August 2025 which comprise the Statement of Financial Activities, the Balance Sheet, the Statement of Cash Flows 
and notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including 
FRS 102 "The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland" (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), and the Academies Accounts Direction issued by the Department for 
Education.

In our opinion the financial statements:
- give a true and fair view of the state of the charitable company's affairs as at 31 August 2025 and of its

incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure, for the year then 
ended;

- have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice;
- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006; and
- have been prepared in accordance with the Academies Accounts Direction issued by the Department for

Education.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the charitable company in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical 
Standard and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Trustees' use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the charitable company's ability to continue 
as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for 
issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Trustees with respect to going concern are described in the 
relevant sections of this report.

Other information
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report other than the financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon. The Trustees' are responsible for the other information contained within the Annual 
Report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial 
statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
- The information given in the Trustees' Report, which includes the Directors' Report and the Strategic Report

prepared for the purposes of company law, for the financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

- the Directors' Report and the Strategic Report included within the Trustees' Report have been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements.
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the charitable company and its environment obtained in the 
course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Directors' Report or the Strategic Report 
included within the Trustees' Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires
us to report to you if, in our opinion:
- adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received

from branches not visited by us; or
- the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
- certain disclosures of Trustees' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
- we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Trustees
As explained more fully in the Statement of Trustees' Responsibilities set out on page 21, the Trustees (who act as 
trustees for the charitable activities of the charitable company are also the directors of the charitable company for 
the purposes of company law) are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the charitable company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the Trustees either intend to liquidate the charitable company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

The extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. The objectives of our audit are to obtain 
sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding compliance with laws and regulations that have a direct effect on the 
determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, to perform audit procedures to help 
identify instances of non-compliance with other laws and regulations that may have a material effect on the financial 
statements, and to respond appropriately to identified or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations 
identified during the audit.

In relation to fraud, the objectives of our audit are to identify and assess the risk of material misstatement of the 
financial statements due to fraud, to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the assessed risks of 
material misstatement due to fraud through designing and implementing appropriate responses and to respond 
appropriately to fraud or suspected fraud identified during the audit.

However, it is the primary responsibility of management, with the oversight of those charged with governance, to 
ensure that the entity's operations are conducted in accordance with the provisions of laws and regulations and for 
the prevention and detection of fraud.

In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud, the audit 
engagement team:
�

�

�

obtained an understanding of the nature of the sector, including the legal and regulatory framework that the 
charitable company operates in and how the charitable company is complying with the legal and regulatory 
framework;
inquired of management, and those charged with governance, about their own identification and assessment of 
the risks of irregularities, including any known actual, suspected or alleged instances of fraud;
discussed matters about non-compliance with laws and regulations and how fraud might occur including 
assessment of how and where the financial statements may be susceptible to fraud.
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As a result of these procedures we consider the most significant laws and regulations that have a direct impact on 
the financial statements are FRS 102, Charities SORP (FRS 102), Companies Act 2006, Department for 
Education’s Academy Trust Handbook and Academies Accounts Direction. We performed audit procedures to detect 
non-compliances which may have a material impact on the financial statements which included reviewing the 
financial statements including the Trustees’ Report.

The most significant laws and regulations that have an indirect impact on the financial statements are those in 
relation to the Education Inspection Framework under the Education Act 2005 (as amended), Keeping Children Safe 
in Education under the Education Act 2002, the UK General Data Protection Regulation (UK GDPR) and the Data 
Protection Act 2018. We performed audit procedures to inquire of management and those charged with governance 
whether the charitable company is in compliance with these law and regulations and inspected correspondence with 
regulatory authorities.

The audit engagement team identified the risk of management override of controls and school transfer in to the trust 
as the areas where the financial statements were most susceptible to material misstatement due to fraud. Audit 
procedures performed included but were not limited to testing manual journal entries and other adjustments, 
evaluating the business rationale in relation to significant, unusual transactions and transactions entered into 
outside the normal course of business, challenging judgments and estimates, reviewing transfer documentation, 
agreeing amounts through to supporting agreements and confirming the disclosures are consistent with the financial 
reporting frameworks.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at: https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our 
auditor's report.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the charitable company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 
of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the charitable company's 
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the charitable 
company and the charitable company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.

Anna Spencer-Gray (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of RSM UK Audit LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
10th Floor
103 Colmore Row
Birmingham
B3 3AG

Anna Spencer-Gray

16/12/25

https://rsm-uk.eu1.adobesign.com/verifier?tx=CBJCHBCAABAA5PtrgP1qux39PCdSaXDwioHYysXwTA6W
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Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total Total
Funds General Fixed Asset 2025 2024

Funds Funds
Notes £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Income and endowments from:
Donations and capital grants 3 - 41 11,804 11,845 17,496
Donations - transfer of existing 
academy into the trust 29 - 31 29,984 30,015 24,240
Charitable activities:
- Funding for educational operations 4 - 66,490 - 66,490 52,215
Other trading activities 5 2,009 78 - 2,087 1,644
Investments 6 156 - - 156 31

Total 2,165 66,640 41,788 110,593 95,626

Expenditure on:
Raising funds 7 474 - - 474 499
Charitable activities:
- Educational operations 8 1,114 65,770 3,801 70,685 55,316

Total 7 1,588 65,770 3,801 71,159 55,815

Net income 7 577 870 37,987 39,434 39,811

Other recognised gains/(losses)
Actuarial gains on defined benefit 
schemes 26 - 1,359 - 1,359 1,163

Net movement in funds 577 2,229 37,987 40,793 40,974

Reconciliation of funds
Total funds brought forward 2,243 (3,356) 118,663 117,550 76,576

Total funds carried forward 2,820 (1,127) 156,650 158,343 117,550
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2025 2024
Notes £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Fixed assets
Tangible assets 13 155,484 117,831

Current assets
Debtors 14 4,647 2,169
Investments - 712
Cash at bank and in hand 5,593 5,727

10,240 8,608
Current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 15 (6,105) (4,932)

Net current assets 4,135 3,676

Total assets less current liabilities 159,619 121,507

Creditors: amounts falling due after more 
than one year 16 (149) (205)
Provisions for liabilities 18 (1,127) (1,200)

Net assets excluding pension liability 158,343 120,102

Defined benefit pension scheme liability 26 - (2,552)

Total net assets 158,343 117,550

Funds of the Academy Trust:
Restricted funds 19
- Restricted fixed asset funds 156,650 118,663
- Restricted income funds - 396
- Pension provision reserves (1,127) (1,200)
- Pension reserve - (2,552)

Total restricted funds 155,523 115,307

Unrestricted income funds 19 2,820 2,243

Total funds 158,343 117,550

The financial statements on pages 25 to 57 were approved by the board of trustees and authorised for issue 
on 10 December 2025 and are signed on their behalf by:

..............................

Mr A Fitzpatrick
Chair of the Board
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2025 2024
Notes £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash used in operating activities 23 (2,353) (544)
Cash funds transferred on transfer 29 919 1,085

(1,434) 541

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 156 31
Capital grants from DfE Group 4,688 1,885
Purchase of tangible fixed assets (4,199) (1,830)
Withdrawal/(purchase) of investments 712 (712)

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities 1,357 (626)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of Government loans (20) (20)
Repayment of Salix loans (37) (32)

Net cash used in financing activities (57) (52)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents in the 
reporting period (134) (137)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 5,727 5,864

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 5,593 5,727
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1 Accounting policies

General information
The Futures Trust is a charitable company (the 'Academy Trust').  The address of its principal place of 
business is given on page 1 and the nature of its operations are set out in the Trustees' Report.

Basis of preparation
The financial statements of the Academy Trust have been prepared under the historical cost convention in 
accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard Applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), 
the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities
preparing their financial statements in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the Academies Accounts Direction 2024 to 
2025 issued by DfE, the Charities Act 2011 and the Companies Act 2006. The Academy Trust is a public
benefit entity under FRS 102 and has therefore applied the relevant public benefit requirements of FRS 102.

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted (which have been applied consistently, except where 
noted), judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty, is set out below.

The financial statements are presented in sterling which is also the functional currency of the Academy Trust. 

Monetary amounts in these financial statements are rounded to the nearest whole £1,000, except where 
otherwise indicated. 

Going concern
Management has reassessed the going concern assumption, including the impact of new schools joining the 
Academy Trust post year end, and confirm that it remains appropriate based on the strong cash and net asset 
position which enables it to meet its liabilities as they fall due. The Trustees make this assessment in respect 
of a period of at least one year from the date of authorisation for issue of the financial statements and have 
concluded that the Academy Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and there are no material uncertainties about the Academy Trust's ability to continue as a 
going concern. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial 
statements.

Transfer into academy trust
The transfer of schools into the Academy Trust involved the transfer of identifiable assets and liabilities and 
the operation of the school for £nil consideration. The substance of the transfer is that of a gift and it has been 
accounted for on that basis as set out below.

The assets and liabilities transferred from Redmoor Academy to the Academy Trust have been valued at their 
fair value. The fair value has been derived based on that of equivalent items. The amounts have been
recognised under the appropriate Balance Sheet categories, with a corresponding amount recognised in
Donations – transfer of existing academy into the trust in the Statement of Financial Activities and analysed 
under unrestricted funds, restricted general funds and restricted fixed asset funds. Further details of the 
transaction are set out in note 29.

Income
All incoming resources are recognised when the Academy Trust has entitlement to the funds, the receipt is 
probable and the amount can be measured reliably.

Grants
Grants are included in the Statement of Financial Activities on a receivable basis. The balance of income 
received for specific purposes but not expended during the period is shown in the relevant funds on the 
Balance Sheet. Where income is received in advance of meeting any performance-related conditions, there is 
not unconditional entitlement to the income and its recognition is deferred and included in creditors as 
deferred income until the performance-related conditions are met. Where entitlement occurs before income is 
received, the income is accrued.
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General Annual Grant is recognised in full in the Statement of Financial Activities in the period for which it is 
receivable, and any abatement in respect of the period is deducted from income and recognised as a liability. 

Capital grants are recognised in full when there is an unconditional entitlement to the grant. Unspent amounts 
of capital grants are reflected in the Balance Sheet in the restricted fixed asset fund. Capital grants are 
recognised when there is entitlement, when performance-related conditions have been met, and are not
deferred over the life of the asset on which they are expended.

Donations
Donations are recognised on a receivable basis (where there are no performance-related conditions) where 
the receipt is probable and the amount can be reliably measured.

Other income
Other income, including the hire of facilities, is recognised at fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable in the period it is receivable and to the extent the Academy Trust has provided the goods or 
services.

Donated goods, facilities and services
Gifts in kind, being the gift of a fixed asset, are measured at fair value, unless it is impractical to measure this 
reliably, in which case the cost of the item to the donor should be used. The gain is recognised as income 
from donations and a corresponding amount is included in the appropriate fixed asset category and 
depreciated over the useful economic life in accordance with the Academy Trust‘s accounting policies. 

Donated services are measured on the basis of the value of the gift to the Academy Trust.

Expenditure
Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to transfer economic benefit to a 
third party, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required in settlement, and the amount of 
the obligation can be measured reliably. 

Expenditure is classified by activity. The costs of each activity are made up of the total of direct costs and 
shared costs, including support costs involved in undertaking each activity. Direct costs attributable to a single 
activity are allocated directly to that activity. Shared costs which contribute to more than one activity and 
support costs which are not attributable to a single activity are apportioned between those activities on a basis 
consistent with the use of resources. Central staff costs are allocated on the basis of time spent, and 
depreciation charges are allocated on the portion of the asset’s use.

Expenditure on raising funds
This includes all expenditure incurred by the Academy Trust to raise funds for its charitable purposes and 
includes costs of all fundraising activities events and non-charitable trading.

Charitable activities
These are costs incurred on the Academy Trust's educational operations to further its charitable aims for the 
benefit of the beneficiaries, including support costs and costs relating to the governance of the Academy Trust 
apportioned to charitable activities. All resources expended are inclusive of irrecoverable VAT.
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Tangible fixed assets and depreciation
Assets costing £2,000 or more are capitalised as tangible fixed assets and are carried at cost, net of 
depreciation and any provision for impairment.  Subsequent costs are capitalised only when it is probable that 
such costs will generate future economic benefits.  All other costs of repairs and maintenance are charged to 
the Statement of Financial Activities as incurred.

Where tangible fixed assets have been acquired with the aid of specific grants, either from the government or 
from the private sector, they are included in the Balance Sheet at cost and depreciated over their expected 
useful economic life. Where there are specific conditions attached to the funding that require the continued 
use of the asset, the related grants are credited to a restricted fixed asset fund in the Statement of Financial 
Activities and carried forward in the Balance Sheet. Depreciation on the relevant assets is charged directly to 
the restricted fixed asset fund in the Statement of Financial Activities. Where tangible fixed assets have been 
acquired with unrestricted funds, depreciation on such assets is charged to the unrestricted fund.

Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets other than freehold land, so as to write off the cost of 
assets less their residual values over their useful lives on the following bases:

Freehold properties 50 years
Long leasehold property 50 years
Computer equipment 3 years
Fixtures, fittings and equipment 10 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Assets under construction are included at cost. Depreciation on these assets is not charged until they are 
brought into use.

Residual value is calculated on prices prevailing at the reporting date, after estimated costs of disposal, for the 
asset as if it were at the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.

A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried out if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value of any fixed asset may not be recoverable. Shortfalls between the carrying value of f ixed assets 
and their recoverable amounts are recognised as impairments. Impairment losses are recognised in the
Statement of Financial Activities.

With respect to the buildings from which the Academy Trust operates which are subject to a PFI agreement, 
these are legally owned by the Council of the City of Coventry and the relevant academies are able to use the 
buildings under the terms of a licence to occupy. The licence to occupy gives the right to use these buildings 
and the substance of the licence is that this will be on an ongoing basis reflecting the historic arrangements in 
place therefore substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership have not been transferred to the 
academies and the assets have not been recognised within tangible fixed assets.

Liabilities
Liabilities are recognised when there is an obligation at the Balance Sheet date as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required in settlement, and the amount of the settlement 
can be estimated reliably. Liabilities are recognised at the amount that the Academy Trust anticipates it will 
pay to settle the debt or the amount it has received as advanced payments for the goods of services it must 
provide.
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Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Academy Trust has an obligation at the reporting date as a result of a 
past event which it is probable will result in the transfer of economic benefits and the obligation can be 
estimated reliably.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation. Where the 
effect of the time value of money is material, the provision is based on the present value of those amounts, 
discounted at the pre-tax discount rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the 
discount is recognised as a financing cost in the period it arises in the Statement of Financial Activities and is 
allocated to the appropriate expenditure heading. 

Leased assets
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged against income on a straight line basis over the period of 
the lease.

Investments
Current asset investments are financial instruments and comprise short-term deposits with notice terms of 
more than 3 months.

Financial instruments
The Academy Trust has chosen to adopt Sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102 in full in respect of financial 
instruments.

Financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Academy Trust becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the financial instrument's contractual 
obligations, rather than the financial instrument's legal form.

All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at transaction price (including transaction costs), 
unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction. A financial asset or financial liability that is 
receivable or payable in one year is measured at the undiscounted amount expected to be received or paid 
net of impairment, unless it is a financing transaction. If an agreement constitutes a financing transaction, the 
financial asset or financial liability is measured at the present value of the future payments discounted at a 
market rate of interest for a similar debt instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset only when there is a current legally enforceable right to set 
off the recognised amounts and the intention to either settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
A financial asset is derecognised only when the contractual rights to cash flow expire or are settled, or 
substantially all the risks and the rewards of ownership are transferred to another party, or if some significant 
risks and rewards of ownership are retained but control of the asset has transferred to another party that is 
able to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party. A financial liability (or part thereof) is 
derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.



THE FUTURES TRUST

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2025

1 Accounting policies (Continued)

- 32 -

Taxation
The Academy Trust is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 of the Finance Act 2010 
and therefore it meets the definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes. Accordingly, the 
Academy Trust is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains received within 
categories covered by chapter 3 part 11 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 of the Taxation of 
Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains are applied exclusively to charitable 
purposes.

Pensions benefits
Retirement benefits to employees of the Academy Trust are provided by the Teachers' Pension Scheme
('TPS') and the Local Government Pension Scheme ('LGPS'), which are multi-employer defined benefit 
schemes.

The TPS is an unfunded scheme and contributions are calculated so as to spread the cost of pensions over 
employees' working lives with the Academy Trust in such a way that the pension cost is a substantially level 
percentage of current and future pensionable payroll. The contributions are determined by the Government 
Actuary on the basis of quadrennial valuations using a projected unit credit method. The TPS is an unfunded 
multi-employer scheme with no underlying assets to assign between employers. Consequently there is 
insufficient information to use defined benefit accounting, it is therefore treated as a defined contribution 
scheme for accounting purposes and the contributions recognised in the period to which they relate. 
Differences between contributions payable in the year and contributions actually paid are shown as either 
accruals or prepayments.

The LGPS is a funded multi-employer scheme and the assets are held separately from those of the Academy 
Trust in separate trustee administered funds. Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value and liabilities 
are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method and discounted at a rate equivalent 
to the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the liabilities. 
The actuarial valuations are obtained at least triennially and are updated at each reporting date. The amounts 
charged to net income are the current service costs and the costs of scheme introductions, benefit changes, 
settlements and curtailments. They are included as part of staff costs as incurred. Net interest on the net 
defined benefit liability/asset is also recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities and comprises the 
interest cost on the defined benefit obligation and interest income on the scheme assets, calculated by 
multiplying the fair value of the scheme assets at the beginning of the period by the rate used to discount the 
benefit obligations. The difference between the interest income on the scheme assets and the actual return on 
the scheme assets is recognised as other recognised gains and losses.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately as other recognised gains and losses.

The LGPS assets are managed by the scheme trustees at scheme level, and the determination / allocation of 
assets to each individual employer in the scheme is managed by the scheme actuary. The assets are 
allocated to each employer for accounting purposes based on the valuation of the assets at the latest triennial 
valuation as adjusted for subsequent contributions received from the employer, asset returns and benefit 
payments made (either on a cash basis or actuarial basis).

The retirement benefit obligation recognised represents the deficit or surplus in the defined benefit plans. Any 
surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the present value of any economic benefits available in the 
form of refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions to the plans.

Fund accounting
Unrestricted income funds represent those resources which may be used towards meeting any of the 
charitable objects of the Academy Trust at the discretion of the Trustees.

Restricted fixed asset funds are resources which are to be applied to specific capital purposes imposed by 
funders where the asset acquired or created is held for a specific purpose.
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Fund accounting (continued)
Restricted general funds comprise all other restricted funds received with restrictions imposed by the funder/
donor and include grants from the Department for Education.

Agency arrangements
The Academy Trust acts as an agent in distributing 16-19 bursary funds from DfE. Payments received from 
DfE and subsequent disbursements to students are excluded from the Statement of Financial Activities as the 
Academy Trust does not have control over the charitable application of the funds. The Academy Trust can use 
up to 5% of the allocation towards its own administration costs and this is recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Activities. The funds received and paid and any balances held are disclosed in note 28.

Short-term employment benefits
Short-term employment benefits such as salaries and compensated absences (holiday pay) are recognised as
an expense in the year in which the employees render services to the Academy Trust. The cost of any unused
holiday entitlement the Academy Trust expects to pay in future periods is recognised in the period the
employees' services are rendered.

The best estimate of the expenditure required to settle an obligation for termination benefits is recognised
immediately as an expense when the Academy Trust is demonstrably committed to terminate the employment
of an employee or to provide termination benefits.

2 Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgement

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Academy Trust makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates and assumptions will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Local Government Pension Scheme
The present value of the Local Government Pension Scheme defined benefit liability depends on a number of 
factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a variety of assumptions. The assumptions used in 
determining the net cost or income for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions, 
which are disclosed in note 26, will impact the carrying amount of the pension liability. Furthermore a roll 
forward approach which projects results from the latest full actuarial valuation performed at 31 March 2022 
has been used by the actuary in valuing the pensions liability at 31 August 2025. Any differences between the 
figures derived from the roll forward approach and a full actuarial valuation would impact on the carrying 
amount of the pension liability.

Enhanced Pension Provision
The Academy Trust has included an enhanced pension provision in the financial statements in the current 
year. An estimate of the expected future cost of any enhancement to the ongoing pension of a former member 
of staff is charged in full to the Statement of Financial Activities in the year that the provision is created. In 
subsequent years, a charge is made to the provision in the Balance Sheet. The provision is determined using 
a variety of assumptions. Any changes in these assumptions would impact on the carrying value of this 
provision.
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Useful economic lives of tangible assets
The annual depreciation charge for tangible assets is sensitive to changes in the estimated useful economic 
lives and residual values of the assets. The useful economic lives and residual values are re-assessed 
annually. They are amended when necessary to reflect current estimates, based on technological 
advancement, future investments, economic utilisation and the physical condition of the assets. See note 13 
for the carrying amount of the property plant and equipment, and the accounting policies for the useful 
economic lives for each class of assets.

Critical areas of judgement
Determining the existence of a minimum funding requirement for the Local Government Pension Scheme to 
be included in the asset ceiling in measuring and recognising a surplus in the scheme. This judgement is 
based on an assessment of the nature of the scheme as a statutory scheme and its inherent implied 
continuance as well as the operation of the primary and secondary contributions.

3 Donations and capital grants
Unrestricted Restricted Total Total

funds funds 2025 2024
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Donated fixed assets - 9,428 9,428 15,574
Capital grants - 2,376 2,376 1,885
Other donations - 41 41 37

- 11,845 11,845 17,496

The income from donations and capital grants was £11,845,000 (2024: £17,496,000) of which £41,000 was 
restricted (2024: £37,000) and £11,804,000 was restricted fixed assets (2024: £17,459,000).
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4 Funding for the Academy Trust's educational operations

Unrestricted Restricted Total Total
funds funds 2025 2024
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

DfE grants
General annual grant (GAG) - 49,909 49,909 38,716
Other DfE grants:
- Universal infant free school meals - 207 207 202
- 16-19 core education funding - 5,760 5,760 4,970
- Pupil premium - 3,065 3,065 2,527
- Core school budget grant - 2,037 2,037 -
- Mainstream schools additional grant - - - 1,331
- Teachers' pay grant - 858 858 696
- Teachers' pension employer contribution grant - 1,400 1,400 658
- NI funding - 285 285 -
- PE & Sports grant - 90 90 145
- Catch up premium - - - 499
- Others - 459 459 858

- 64,070 64,070 50,602

Other government grants
Local authority grants - 2,286 2,286 1,600
Special educational projects - 134 134 13

- 2,420 2,420 1,613

- 66,490 66,490 52,215

The income from funding for educational operations was £66,490,000 (2024: £52,215,000) of which 
£66,490,000 was restricted (2024: £52,215,000).

5 Other trading activities
Unrestricted Restricted Total Total

funds funds 2025 2024
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Lettings income 5 - 5 6
Event income 506 - 506 322
Educational trips and visits income 678 - 678 513
Other income 820 78 898 803

2,009 78 2,087 1,644

The income from other trading activities was £2,087,000 (2024: £1,644,000) of which £2,009,000 was 
unrestricted (2024: £1,586,000) and £78,000 was restricted (2024: £58,000).
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6 Investment income
Unrestricted Restricted Total Total

funds funds 2025 2024
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Interest from short term deposits 156 - 156 31

The income from funding for investment income was £156,000 (2024: £31,000) of which £156,000 was 
unrestricted (2024: £31,000).

7 Expenditure
Non-pay expenditure Total Total

Staff costs Premises Other 2025 2024
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure on raising funds
- Direct costs - - 474 474 499
Academy's educational operations
- Direct costs 44,033 - 5,358 49,391 38,908
- Allocated support costs 9,648 7,707 3,939 21,294 16,408

53,681 7,707 9,771 71,159 55,815

The expenditure on raising funds was £474,000 (2024: £499,000) of which £474,000 was unrestricted (2024: 
£499,000).

Net income for the year includes: 2025 2024
£'000 £'000

Operating lease rentals 222 195
Facilities management PFI fees 135 135
Net interest on defined benefit pension liability 57 202
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 3,122 2,406
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 48 -
Fees payable to RSM UK Audit LLP and its associates in respect of both audit 
and non-audit services are as follows:
- Audit 43 42
- Other services 16 15
- Other assurance services 6 4
- Taxation compliance 3 2
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8 Charitable activities
Unrestricted Restricted Total Total

funds funds 2025 2024
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Direct costs
Educational operations 1,114 48,277 49,391 38,908

Support costs
Educational operations - 21,294 21,294 16,408

1,114 69,571 70,685 55,316

The expenditure on charitable activities was £70,685,000 (2024: £55,316,000) of which £1,114,000 was 
unrestricted (2024: £354,000), £65,770,000 was restricted (2024: £52,202,000) and £3,801,000 was restricted 
fixed assets (2024: £2,760,000).

Analysis of support costs
2025 2024
£'000 £'000

Support staff costs 9,696 7,404
Depreciation and loss on disposal 3,170 2,406
Technology costs 1,312 928
Premises costs 4,537 3,432
Legal costs - transfer 53 -
Legal costs - other 28 100
Other support costs 2,498 2,138

21,294 16,408
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9 Staff

Staff costs
Staff costs during the year were:

2025 2024
£'000 £'000

Wages and salaries 38,374 30,509
Social security costs 4,470 3,186
Pension costs 9,208 6,787

Staff costs - employees 52,052 40,482
Agency staff costs 1,619 1,155
Staff restructuring costs 10 65

53,681 41,702
Staff development and other staff costs 438 232

Total staff expenditure 54,119 41,934

Staff restructuring costs comprise:

Severance payments (including special severance payments) 10 65

Included in staff restructuring costs are special severance payments totalling £10,588 (2024: £28,451). 
Individually, the payments were: £9,306, £1,281 and £1.

Exit payments
The Academy Trust paid 3 exit payments in the year, as follows:

£0 - £25,000                                                    3

Staff numbers
The average number of persons employed by the Academy Trust during the year was as follows:

2025 2024
Number Number

Teachers 514 464
Administration and support 572 434
Management 20 20

1,106 918
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The number of persons employed, expressed as a full time equivalent, was as follows:
2025 2024

Number Number

Teachers 514 427
Administration and support 381 318
Management 20 19

915 764

Higher paid staff
The number of employees whose employee benefits (excluding employer pension costs and employer 
national insurance contributions) exceeded £60,000 was:

2025 2024
Number Number

£60,001 - £70,000 72 43
£70,001 - £80,000 19 16
£80,001 - £90,000 6 4
£90,001 - £100,000 5 2
£100,001 - £110,000 2 4
£110,001 - £120,000 2 -
£120,001 - £130,000 2 2
£130,001 - £140,000 1 -
£140,001 - £150,000 1 -

Key management personnel
The key management personnel of the Academy Trust comprise the Trustees and the senior management 
team as listed on page 1. The total amount of employee benefits (including employer pension contributions
and employer national insurance contributions) received by key management personnel for their services to 
the Academy Trust was £2,091,804 (2024: £1,692,084).

10 Central services

The Academy Trust has provided the following central services to its academies during the year:
�
�
�
�
�
�

human resources;
financial services;
ICT services;
legal services;
educational support services;
others as arising.

The Academy Trust normally charges for these services based on 5% for secondary schools and 3.5% for 
primary schools, however schools' individual circumstances are considered when agreeing these charges.  

For the current year, Redmoor Academy, being a new school transferred in, was not charged a fee for Central 
Services but will be charged a fee from 1 September 2025.
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The amounts charged during the year were as follows: 2025 2024
£'000 £'000

Stoke Park School 375 329
The Hinckley School 262 384
Camp Hill Primary School 82 75
Keresley Newland Primary Academy 32 27
President Kennedy School 621 558
Barr's Hill School 373 318
Parkgate Primary School 111 99
Keresley Grange Primary Academy 54 46
Coundon Court School 440 -
Redmoor Academy - -

2,350 1,836

11 Trustees' remuneration and expenses

During the year, no trustees (2024: no trustees) were paid remuneration or received other benefits from 
employment with the Academy Trust. The current principal is not a trustee. Other trustees were not paid any 
remuneration.

No trustees were reimbursed for expenses in 2025 and 2024.

12 Trustees and officers' insurance

The Academy Trust has opted into the Department for Education’s Risk Protection Arrangement (RPA), an 
alternative to insurance where UK government funds cover losses that arise. This scheme protects Trustees 
and officers from claims arising from negligent acts, errors or omissions occurring whilst on Academy Trust 
business, and provides cover up to £10,000,000. It is not possible to quantify the Trustees and officers 
indemnity element from the overall cost of the RPA scheme.
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Long leasehold properties are leased from Coventry City Council, relating to the land and buildings at the 
President Kennedy School, Parkgate Primary School, Keresley Grange Primary Academy and Coundon Court
School, they are leased for a period of 125 years for a peppercorn rent, if demanded. No such charges have 
been made in the current year (2024: £nil).

Long leasehold properties are leased from Leicestershire County Council and John Cleveland Foundation, 
relating to the land and buildings at The Hinckley School, they are leased for a period of 125 years for a 
peppercorn rent, if demanded. No such charges have been made in the current year (2024: £nil).

Long leasehold properties are leased from Leicestershire County Council, relating to the land and buildings at 
Redmoor Academy, they are leased for a period of 125 years for a peppercorn rent, if demanded. No such 
charges have been made in the current year (2024: £nil).

Long leasehold properties are leased from Warwickshire County Council, relating to the land and buildings at 
Keresley Newland and Camp Hill Primary School, they are leased for a period of 125 years for a peppercorn 
rent, if demanded. No such charges have been made in the current year (2024: £nil).

During the prior year, Coundon Court School was transferred into the Academy Trust. At the point of transfer, 
the school was part way through a new build process. In February 2025, a further building was handed over to 
the Academy Trust with a value of £9,428k from DfE which has been recognised as a donated fixed asset in 
income in note 3.

14 Debtors
2025 2024
£'000 £'000

Trade debtors 538 32
Other debtors 1,892 474
Prepayments and accrued income 2,217 1,663

4,647 2,169

Amounts included above which fall due after more than one year:
2025 2024
£'000 £'000

Prepayments and accrued income 129 -
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15 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
2025 2024
£'000 £'000

Government loans 20 20
Salix loans 36 37
Trade creditors 1,706 1,260
Other taxation and social security 1,104 819
Other creditors 1,585 1,111
Accruals and deferred income (see note 17) 1,654 1,685

6,105 4,932

16 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
2025 2024
£'000 £'000

Government loans 120 140
Salix loans 29 65

149 205

2025 2024
Analysis of loans £'000 £'000

Not wholly repayable within five years by instalments 140 160
Wholly repayable within five years 65 102

205 262
Less: included in current liabilities (56) (57)

Amounts included above 149 205

Loan maturity
Debt due in one year or less 56 57
Due in more than one year but not more than two years 39 56
Due in more than two years but not more than five years 70 87
Due in more than five years 40 62

205 262

At the year end, the Academy Trust has a DfE loan amounting to £140,000 (2024: £160,000). The DfE loan 
terms are 10 years at an interest rate of 0%. 

The Academy Trust also has two Salix loans amounting to £65,000 (2024: £102,000). The loan terms for the 
separate Salix loans are 5 years at an interest rate of 0% and 6 years at an interest rate of 0%.  
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17 Deferred income
2025 2024
£'000 £'000

Deferred income is included within:
Creditors due within one year 224 254

Deferred income at 1 September 2024 254 540
Released from previous years (254) (540)
Resources deferred in the year 224 254

Deferred income at 31 August 2025 224 254

Deferred income relates to universal free school meals, trip income and other grants received in advance 
specifically for future periods.

18 Provision

Included within the financial statements is an enhanced pension provision relating to the cost of staff who 
have already left the Academy Trust's employment. The provision has been recalculated at 31 August 2025 as 
£1,127k (2024: £1,200k) in accordance with guidance issued by the funding bodies.

The principal assumption for this calculation is using a discount rate of 5.50% (2024: 4.80%) and price 
inflation of 2.70% (2024: 2.80%).

Enhanced Pension 
provision

£’000
At 1 September 2024 1,200
Less benefits paid (64)
Plus interest cost 58
Actuarial gains (67)

───────
At 31 August 2025 1,127 

═══════
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19 Funds
Balance at Gains, Balance at

1 September losses and 31 August
2024 Income Expenditure transfers 2025
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Restricted general funds
General Annual Grant (GAG) 396 49,909 (50,305) - -
16-19 core education funding - 5,760 (5,760) - -
Pupil premium - 3,065 (3,065) - -
Teachers' pay grant - 858 (858) - -
Teachers' pension employer 
contribution grant - 1,400 (1,400) - -
Universal infant free school 
meals - 207 (207) - -
Core school budget grant - 2,037 (2,037) - -
NI funding - 285 (285) - -
PE & sport grant - 90 (90) - -
Other grants - 459 (459) - -
Other government grants - 2,420 (2,420) - -
Pension provision reserve (1,200) - 73 - (1,127)
Other restricted funds - 150 (150) - -
Pension reserve (2,552) - 1,193 1,359 -

(3,356) 66,640 (65,770) 1,359 (1,127)

Restricted fixed asset funds
Assets inherited on transfer, 
gifted assets and capital grants 118,663 41,788 (3,801) - 156,650

Total restricted funds 115,307 108,428 (69,571) 1,359 155,523

Unrestricted funds
General funds 2,243 2,165 (1,588) - 2,820

Total funds 117,550 110,593 (71,159) 1,359 158,343
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The specific purposes for which the funds are to be applied are as follows:

Restricted general funds
This fund represents grants received for the Academy Trust’s operational activities and development. This 
includes the pension reserve which represents the potential liability due by the Academy Trust at the year end.

Restricted fixed asset funds
This fund represents the net book value of fixed assets that the Academy Trust has purchased out of grants 
received and have been transferred on conversion.

Unrestricted funds
The unrestricted funds represent funds available to the trustees to apply for the general purposes of the 
Academy Trust.

Under the funding agreement with the Secretary of State, the Academy Trust was not subject to a limit on the 
GAG that it could carry forward at 31 August 2025.
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Funds prior year

Balance at Gains, Balance at
1 September losses and 31 August

2023 Income Expenditure transfers 2024
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Restricted general funds
General Annual Grant (GAG) 458 38,060 (38,122) - 396
16-19 core education funding - 4,970 (4,970) - -
Pupil premium - 2,527 (2,527) - -
Teachers' pay grant - 696 (696) - -
Teachers' pension employer 
contribution grant - 658 (658) - -
Universal infant free school 
meals - 202 (202) - -
Other grants - 2,833 (2,833) - -
Other government grants 11 1,613 (1,624) - -
Pension provision reserve (1,108) (92) - - (1,200)
Mainstream schools additional 
grant - 1,331 (1,331) - -
PE & Sports grant - 145 (145) - -
Other restricted funds - 42 (42) - -
Pension reserve (4,284) (379) 948 1,163 (2,552)

(4,923) 52,606 (52,202) 1,163 (3,356)

Restricted fixed asset funds
Assets inherited on transfer, 
gifted assets and capital grants 79,923 41,403 (2,760) 97 118,663

Total restricted funds 75,000 94,009 (54,962) 1,260 115,307

Unrestricted funds
General funds 1,576 1,617 (853) (97) 2,243

Total funds 76,576 95,626 (55,815) 1,163 117,550
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Total funds analysis by academy
2025 2024

Fund balances at 31 August 2025 were allocated as follows: £'000 £'000

Stoke Park School 1,848 1,808
The Hinckley School 187 2
Camp Hill Primary School 370 346
Keresley Newland Primary Academy (500) (339)
President Kennedy School 1,674 1,662
Barr's Hill School 491 454
Parkgate Primary School 304 262
Keresley Grange Primary Academy (364) (334)
Coundon Court School 416 451
Redmoor Academy (119) -
Central services (1,487) (1,673)

Total before fixed assets fund and pension reserve 2,820 2,639

Restricted fixed asset fund 156,650 118,663
Pension reserve - (2,552)
Pension provision reserve (1,127) (1,200)

Total funds 158,343 117,550

The Central Services deficit position reflects the Trust’s strategic investment in school improvement initiatives. 
This approach is now well embedded and has delivered demonstrable impact across the Trust’s schools.

During the reporting period, Keresley Grange, Keresley Newland, and Redmoor Academy have operated with 
in-year deficits. These schools are receiving targeted support from the Central Services team to implement 
their school improvement plans, strengthen resource planning, and deliver enhanced marketing strategies 
aimed at increasing pupil numbers.

The Trust continues to monitor these positions closely and remains committed to returning all schools to a 
balanced financial position over the medium to long term. This will be achieved through effective resource 
management, increased operational efficiency, and growth in pupil enrolment.
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Total cost analysis by academy

Expenditure incurred by each academy during the year was as follows:

Teaching and Other costs

educational Other support Educational excluding Total Total

support staff staff costs supplies depreciation 2025 2024

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Stoke Park School 5,308 1,271 584 1,409 8,572 7,341
The Hinckley School 5,305 1,218 606 1,379 8,508 8,314
Camp Hill Primary School 2,180 360 195 582 3,317 3,009
Keresley Newland Primary 
Academy 1,029 168 81 249 1,527 1,235
President Kennedy School 9,074 2,040 909 2,263 14,286 12,573
Barr's Hill School 5,428 1,121 634 1,461 8,644 7,381
Parkgate Primary School 2,688 632 233 721 4,274 3,902
Keresley Grange Primary 
Academy 1,266 207 159 347 1,979 1,758
Coundon Court School 9,034 2,322 837 1,785 13,978 6,602
Redmoor Academy 2,011 714 356 330 3,411 -
Central services 817 1,404 217 598 3,036 1,294

44,140 11,457 4,811 11,124 71,532 53,409

20 Analysis of net assets between funds
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

Funds General Fixed asset Funds
Funds Funds

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Fund balances at 31 August 2025 are 
represented by:
Tangible fixed assets - - 155,484 155,484
Current assets 2,820 6,189 1,231 10,240
Current liabilities - (6,069) (36) (6,105)
Liabilities due after one year - (120) (29) (149)
Provisions for liabilities - (1,127) - (1,127)

Total net assets 2,820 (1,127) 156,650 158,343
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Unrestricted Restricted funds: Total
Funds General Fixed asset Funds
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Fund balances at 31 August 2024 are 
represented by:
Tangible fixed assets - - 117,831 117,831
Current assets 2,243 5,433 932 8,608
Current liabilities - (4,897) (35) (4,932)
Liabilities due after one year - (140) (65) (205)
Provisions for liabilities - (1,200) - (1,200)
Pension scheme liability - (2,552) - (2,552)

Total net assets 2,243 (3,356) 118,663 117,550

21 Capital commitments
2025 2024
£'000 £'000

Expenditure contracted for but not provided in the financial statements 401 -

22 Long-term commitments

Operating leases
At 31 August 2025, the total of the Academy Trust's future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases was:

2025 2024
£'000 £'000

Amounts due within one year 309 170
Amounts due between one and five years 774 295
Amounts due after five years 442 -

1,525 465
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Other contractual commitments
At 31 August 2025, the total of the Academy Trust's future minimum lease payments under other contractual 
commitments was:

2025 2024
£'000 £'000

Amounts due within one year 135 135
Amounts between one and five years 540 540
Amounts due after five years 1,475 1,610

2,150 2,285

The Academy Trust is party to a facilities management contract under a PFI scheme for a school building at 
the President Kennedy site, which is subject to a supplementary agreement with the Secretary of State for 
Education. 

23 Reconciliation of net income to net cash flow from operating activities

2025 2024
Notes £'000 £'000

Net income for the reporting period
(as per the statement of financial activities) 39,434 39,811

Adjusted for:
Net surplus on transfer of academy in the trust 29 (30,015) (24,240)
Donated fixed assets 3 (9,428) (15,574)
Capital grants from DfE and other capital income (2,376) (1,885)
Interest receivable 6 (156) (31)
Pension costs less contributions payable 26 (1,250) (1,150)
Pension scheme finance costs 26 57 202
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 3,122 2,406
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 48 -
(Decrease)/increase in provisions (73) 92

Movements in working capital:
(Increase) in debtors (1,367) (178)
(Decrease)/increase in creditors (349) 3

Net cash used in operating activities (2,353) (544)
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24 Analysis of changes in net funds
1 September 

2024
Cash flows Other non-

cash changes
31 August 

2025
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cash 5,727 (134) - 5,593
Loans falling due within one year (57) 57 (56) (56)
Loans falling due after more than one year (205) - 56 (149)

5,465 (77) - 5,388

25 Members' liability

Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the charitable company in 
the event of it being wound up while he or she is a member, or within one year after he or she ceases to be a 
member, such amount as may be required, not exceeding £10 for the debts and liabilities contracted before 
he or she ceases to be a member.

26 Pension and similar obligations

The Academy Trust's employees belong to two principal pension schemes: the Teachers' Pension Scheme 
England and Wales (TPS) for academic and related staff; and the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) for non-teaching staff, which is managed by West Midlands Pension Fund (WMPF), Leicestershire
County Council Pension Fund and the Warwickshire Pension Fund (WPF). Both are multi-employer defined
benefit schemes. Each LGPS is exists independently under the LGPS Regulations and are therefore 
accounted for separately.

The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS related to the period ended 31 March 2020, and that of the LGPS 
related to the period ended 31 March 2022.

Contributions amounting to £1,233,049 (2024: £1,038,822) were payable to the schemes at 31 August 2025 
and are included within creditors.

The LGPS obligation reflects employees of the Academy Trust who transferred as part of the transfer in from 
another academy trust who were already members of the scheme and new employees who were eligible to 
and did join the Scheme whose cumulative retirement benefit was transferred to the Academy Trust in the 
year. The obligation in respect of employees who transferred represents their cumulative service to the date of 
transfer. 

During the year, Redmoor Academy transferred in to the Academy Trust. The obligation in respect of
employees who transferred with Redmoor Academy to the Academy Trust representing their cumulative 
service to the predecessor employer was recognised in the SoFA as part of the gain on transfer as set out in 
note 29.

Teachers' Pension Scheme

Introduction
The Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPS) is a statutory, contributory, defined benefit scheme, governed by the 
Teachers’ Pensions 2014.

Membership is automatic for teachers in academies. All teachers have the option to opt-out of the TPS 
following enrolment.



THE FUTURES TRUST

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2025

26 Pension and similar obligations (Continued)

- 53 -

The TPS is an unfunded scheme and members contribute on a 'pay as you go' basis - these contributions 
along with those made by employers are credited to the Exchequer.

The Academy Trust has accounted for its contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined contribution 
scheme. The Academy Trust has set out below the information available on the scheme.

Valuation of the Teachers’ Pension Scheme
The Government Actuary, using normal actuarial principles, conducts a formal actuarial review of the TPS in 
accordance with the Public Service Pensions (Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) Directions 2014 published 
by HM Treasury every 4 years. The aim of the review is to ensure scheme costs are recognised and managed 
appropriately and the review specifies the level of future contributions. Actuarial scheme valuations are 
dependent on assumptions about the value of future costs, design of benefits and many other factors. The 
latest actuarial valuation of the TPS was carried out as at 31 March 2020 in accordance with The Public 
Service Pensions (Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) Directions 2014 and the Employer Contribution Rate 
was assessed using agreed assumptions in line with the Directions and was accepted at the original assessed 
rate as there was no cost control mechanism breach. The valuation report was published by the Department 
for Education on 26 October 2023.

The key results of the valuation are:
�

�

�
�

Total scheme liabilities for service (the capital sum needed at 31 March 2020 to meet the stream of 
future cash flows in respect of benefits earned) of £262 billion
Value of notional assets (estimated future contributions together with the proceeds from the notional 
investments held at the valuation date) of £222 billion
Notional past service deficit of £39.8 billion (2016 £22 billion)
Discount rate is 1.7% in excess of CPI (2016 2.4% in excess of CPI) (this change has had the 
greatest financial significance)

As a result of the valuation, new employer contribution rates have been set at 28.6% of pensionable pay from 
1 April 2024 until 31 March 2027 (compared to 23.68% under the previous valuation including a 0.08% 
administration levy).

The employer's pension costs paid to the TPS in the period amounted to £9,530,908 (2024: £5,325,000). 

The TPS is a multi-employer pension plan and there is insufficient information to account for the scheme as a 
defined benefit plan so it is accounted for as a defined contribution plan.

Local Government Pension Scheme

The LGPS is a funded defined benefit pension scheme, with the assets in each separate scheme held in 
separate trustee-administered funds. The total contributions are as noted below. The agreed contribution rates 
for future years are 24% - 32.5% for employers and 5.5 - 12.5% for employees. 

As described in note 29, the LGPS obligation relates to the employees of the Academy Trust, being the 
employees transferred as part of the transfer from the Academy Trust and new employees who joined the 
scheme in the period. The obligation in respect of employees who transferred represents their cumulative 
service at both the predecessor school and the Academy Trust at the Balance Sheet date.

Parliament has agreed, at the request of the Secretary of State for Education, to a guarantee that, in the event 
of academy closure, outstanding Local Government Pension Scheme liabilities would be met by the 
Department for Education. The guarantee came into force on 18 July 2013 and on 21 July 2022, the 
Department for Education reaffirmed its commitment to the guarantee, with a parliamentary minute published 
on GOV.UK.
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Total contributions made 2025 2024
£'000 £'000

Employer's contributions 3,259 2,840
Employees' contributions 734 636

Total contributions 3,993 3,476

Principal actuarial assumptions
The following information is based upon a full actuarial valuation of the fund at 31 March 2022 updated to 31 
August 2025 by a qualified independent actuary.

2025 2024
% %

Rate of increase in salaries 3.20 - 3.70 3.20 - 3.70
Rate of increase for pensions in payment/inflation 2.70 2.70
Discount rate for scheme liabilities 6.05 5.00
Inflation assumption (CPI) 2.70 2.70

The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in mortality rates.  The 
assumed life expectations on retirement age 65 are:

2025 2024
Years Years

Retiring today
- Males 18.50 - 20.30 18.30 - 20.10
- Females 23.00 - 24.80 22.90 - 24.80
Retiring in 20 years
- Males 21.00 - 21.80 20.80 - 21.60
- Females 24.50 - 25.60 24.50 - 25.50

The Academy Trust's share of the assets in the scheme 2025 2024
Fair value Fair value

£'000 £'000

Equities 25,678 19,765
Other bonds 17,922 13,132
Cash/liquidity 3,289 2,654
Property 3,424 2,608

Total fair value of assets 50,313 38,159

The actual return on scheme assets was £2,863,000 (2024: £2,903,000).
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Amount recognised in the statement of financial activities 2025 2024
£'000 £'000

Current service cost 2,004 1,690
Net interest cost 57 202
Plan introductions, changes, gain/(loss) on curtailment and gain/(loss) on 
settlement 5 -

Total amount recognised 2,066 1,892

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations 2025
£'000

At 1 September 2024 40,364
Obligations acquired on transfer 5,020
Current service cost 2,004
Interest cost 2,167
Employee contributions 734
Actuarial gain (9,312)
Benefits paid (857)
Past service cost 5

At 31 August 2025 40,125

Changes in the fair value of the Academy Trust's share of scheme assets
2025
£'000

At 1 September 2024 38,159
Assets acquired on transfer 6,155
Interest income 2,110
Return on plan assets (excluding net interest on the net defined pension liability) 753
Employer contributions 3,259
Employee contributions 734
Benefits paid (857)

At 31 August 2025 50,313
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The Academy Trust is aware that the Court of Appeal upheld the decision in the Virgin Media vs NTL Pension 
Trustees II Limited case. The decision puts into question the validity of any amendments made in respect of 
the rules of a contracted-out pension scheme between 6 April 1997 and 5 April 2016. The judgment means 
that some historic amendments affecting s.9(2B) rights could be void if the necessary actuarial confirmation 
under s.37 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 was not obtained.

On the 5 June 2025, the Government announced its intention to introduce legislation to give affected pension 
schemes the ability to retrospectively obtain written confirmation that historical benefit changes met the 
necessary standards. However, details of the legislation have not been announced and it’s not clear how this 
interacts with the investigations made by the UK Government’s Actuary’s Department therefore the potential 
impact if any, on the valuation of scheme liabilities remains unknown.

2025
£'000

Present value of defined benefit obligations (40,125)
Fair value of plan assets 50,313

Net asset 10,188
Restriction to level of asset ceiling (10,188)

Net asset recognised on the balance sheet -

The value of the college’s share of net assets of West Midlands Pension Fund (WMPF), Leicestershire County 
Council Pension Fund and the Warwickshire Pension Fund (WPF) has been restricted due to the effect of the 
asset ceiling being the maximum value of the present of the economic benefits available in the form of the 
unconditional right to reduced contributions from the plan.  A corresponding charge has been made to other 
comprehensive income in the period.

27 Related party transactions

Key management personnel remuneration is disclosed in note 9.

J Toor, the spouse of S Toor, the Deputy Chief Executive Officer (a member of key management personnel), is 
employed by the Academy Trust as a teacher. The appointment was made before Stoke Park joined the 
Academy Trust, in open competition and the Deputy Chief Executive Officer was not involved in the decision 
making process regarding appointment. The post is paid within the normal pay scale for the role and the 
individual receives no special treatment as a result of their relationship to the Deputy Chief Executive Officer.

During the year, the Academy Trust made purchases of £110 (2024: £165) from Martyn Blair Consulting. The 
owner of Martyn Blair Consulting is the spouse of trustee C Blair.

During the year, the Academy Trust made purchases of £27,570 (2024: £113,239) from the Chair of Hinckley 
and Bosworth Educational Partnership who is the partner of L Hickman, principal of The Hinckley School. 

28 Agency arrangements

The Academy Trust administers the disbursement of the discretionary support for learners, 16-19 Bursary 
Funds, on behalf of the DfE. In the year, it received £78,936 (2024: £85,216) and disbursed £63,958 (2024: 
£71,279). An amount of £39,962 (2024: £24,984) is included in deferred income relating to undistributed funds 
that is repayable to DfE. 
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29 Transfer of existing academies into the Academy Trust

On 1 April 2025, Redmoor Academy transferred its operations and assets to The Futures Trust for £nil 
consideration. The transfer has been accounted for as a combination that is in substance a gift. The assets 
and liabilities transferred were valued at their fair values and recognised in the Balance Sheet under the 
appropriate headings with a corresponding net amount recognised as a net gain in the Statement of Financial 
Activities.

The following table sets out the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities transferred and an analysis 
of their recognition in the Statement of Financial Activities.

Value reported by 
transferring trust

Fair value 
adjustments

Transfer in 
recognised

Net assets acquired £'000 £'000 £'000

Leasehold land and buildings 7,096 14,249 21,345
Other tangible fixed assets 5,851 - 5,851
Debtors 3,423 - 3,423
Creditors (1,523) - (1,523)
Cash and cash equivalents 919 - 919
Pension scheme 1,135 (1,135) -

Total net assets 16,901 13,114 30,015

In the period from the date of transfer to 31 August 2025, this school generated income of £3,209k and in the 
period made a deficit of £381k.
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Conclusion
We have carried out an engagement in accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated 20 May 2022 and 
further to the requirements of the Department for Education ('DfE') as included in the Framework and Guide for 
External Auditors and Reporting Accountants of Academy Trusts issued by the DfE, to obtain limited assurance 
about whether anything has come to our attention that would suggest, in all material respects, the expenditure 
disbursed and income received by The Futures Trust during the period 1 September 2024 to 31 August 2025 have 
not been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament or the financial transactions do not conform to the 
authorities which govern them.

In the course of our work, nothing has come to our attention which suggests that in all material respects the 
expenditure disbursed and income received during the period 1 September 2024 to 31 August 2025 has not been 
applied for the purposes intended by Parliament or that the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities 
which govern them.

Basis for conclusion
The framework that has been applied is set out in the Framework and Guide for External Auditors and Reporting 
Accountants of Academy Trusts.

We have complied with the independence and other ethical requirements of the FRC’s Ethical Standard and the 
ethical pronouncements of the ICAEW. We also apply International Standard on Quality Management (UK) 1 Quality 
Management for Firms that Perform Audits or Reviews of Financial Statements, or Other Assurance or Related 
Services Engagements and accordingly maintain comprehensive systems of continuing quality management. We 
believe the assurance evidence we have obtained is sufficient to provide a basis for our conclusion.

Responsibilities of the accounting officer of The Futures Trust and Trustees
The accounting officer is responsible, under the requirements of The Futures Trust’s funding agreement with the 
Secretary of State for Education and the Academy Trust Handbook, for ensuring that expenditure disbursed and 
income received are applied for the purposes intended by Parliament, and that the financial transactions conform to 
the authorities which govern them.  The accounting officer is also responsible for preparing the Statement of 
Regularity, Propriety and Compliance. The Trustees (who are also the directors of the charitable company for the 
purposes of company law) are responsible for the proper conduct and financial operation of The Futures Trust and 
appointment of the accounting officer.

Responsibilities of the reporting accountant
Our responsibilities for this engagement are established in the United Kingdom by our profession’s ethical guidance 
and are to obtain limited assurance and report in accordance with our engagement letter and the requirements of 
the Framework and Guide for External Auditors and Reporting Accountants of Academy Trusts.

The objective of a limited assurance engagement is to perform such procedures as to obtain information and 
explanations in order to provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to express a negative conclusion on 
regularity. A limited assurance engagement is more limited in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement and 
the procedures vary in nature and timing from, and are less in extent than for a reasonable assurance engagement; 
consequently a limited assurance engagement does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become 
aware of all significant matters that might be identified in a reasonable assurance engagement. Accordingly, we do 
not express a positive opinion.

We report to you whether anything has come to our attention in carrying out our work which suggests that in all 
material respects, expenditure disbursed and income received during the period 1 September 2024 to 31 August 
2025 have not been applied for the purposes intended by Parliament or that the financial transactions do not 
conform to the authorities which govern them.
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Our work included identification and assessment of the design and operational effectiveness of the controls, policies 
and procedures that have been implemented to ensure compliance with the framework of authorities including the 
specific requirements of the funding agreement with the Secretary of State for Education, the Academy Trust 
Handbook and high level financial control areas where we identified a material risk of irregularity is likely to arise. It 
also included areas assessed as presenting a higher risk of impropriety. We undertook detailed testing, on a sample 
basis, based on the identified areas where a material irregularity is likely to arise, or potential impropriety where 
such areas are in respect of controls, policies and procedures that apply to classes of transactions. Our work was 
undertaken with due regard to the 'Evidence to support conclusion on regularity' guidance in the Framework and 
Guide for External Auditors and Reporting Accountants of Academy Trusts.

This work was integrated with our audit on the financial statements and evidence was also derived from the conduct 
of that audit to the extent it supports the regularity conclusion.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to The Futures Trust and the Secretary of State for Education in accordance with the 
terms of our engagement letter dated 20 May 2022. Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
The Futures Trust and the Secretary of State for Education those matters we are required to state in a report and for 
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than The Futures Trust and the Secretary of State for Education, for our work, for this report, or for the conclusion 
we have formed.

RSM UK Audit LLP
Chartered accountants
10th Floor
103 Colmore Row
Birmingham
B3 3AG

Dated: .........................

RSM UK Audit LLP

16/12/25
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